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Moderator; Kenneth W. Stein

I grow up no more than two miles from here: it's quite gratifying to be back in
Hempstead. It's also very gratifying 1o be here in the company of these five gentlemen,
individuals who have an enormous amaunt of public policy experience dealing with the
Middle Basl; individuals whese reputations far outweigh my own, and probably will
for the rest of my life; individuals who have given enormous tima (o the pursuit of
peace in the Middle East, and continue te do so, even though some of them are no
longer involved in officta! public service.

Neo one who studies the Middls East or observes the conduct of American foreign
palicy can overestimate the extraordinary political achievement of President Jimmy
Carter in negotiating the 1978 Camp David accords. Given the depth of historical
atimosity between Arabs and Israelis, it was remarkable that an agreement--however
imperfeet--was reached between Israel and Bgypt in 1978, Since the September 1978
signing, the countries and people of the region have reacled (o this historical
benchmark. The accords proved that negotiation and not belligerency can begin to
characlerize Israeli-Arab relations. The fegacy of the accords ia their durability In the
face of severe criticism and enormous political change in the Middle East,

When Anwar Sadat stated to the Egyptian People's Assembly on November 9,
1977, "I'm ready to go 1o their . . . Knesset to talk to them,” most hardened cynics
dismissed his statement as rhetoric. After lis vislt to Jerusalem, official Washington
remained somewhat skeptical of this bold initiative. The Carter administration had
spent almost all of the first year in office concentrating on seeking to reconvene a
Geneva Middle East peace conference. Public endorsement of Sadat’s venlure was
stow in coming from either the White House or the State Depariment,

During and afler the Qclober 1973 war, Sccrelary of State Kissinger had
successfully established a working rapport with Sadat. The United States had become
an interfocutor and intermediary. We had negotiated two successful disengagement
agreemenis with Egypt, and one with Syda. In addition, Anwar Sadat began 1o trust
Americans. 1le began Lo trust Kissinger; ultimately, he trusted Jimmy Carter,

In March 1977, a1 Clinton, Massachuselts, Jimmy Carter gave his historic speech
in which he spoke about the necessity to establish u Palestinian homeland--the first
president Lo make a positive statement about the Palestinian fiuture, Subsequently
Prosident Carter met with virtually every major Middle Eastern teader, and he mel with
Menachem Begin after he was elected prime minister in May 1977. From April {0
August 1977, Carter and his foreign policy aides sought to overcome procedurai
problems involved in reconvening a Geneva conference. The sticking point then, as
now, was the PLO, or Palestinian, representation. Israel opposed separate Palestinian
representation at Geneva, and it adamantly opposed the establishment of a Palestinian
politicaf infrastructure, which would endanger Israel's survival, Uliimately, by the end
of September 1977, lsrael accepted the concepl of Palesfinian representation in a
unified delegation at Geneva. Afler the opening scssion al Geneva, bilateral talks
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between larael and Egypt were to take place. How the I'alestinian question was to be
resolved remained an outstanding issue.

But Anwar Sadat grew impatient because the Syrians perhaps were going to be
involved. He may have grown impatient because the United States, on October 1,
1977, had offered the opportunity for a renewed Soviet involvement in Middle East
diplomacy with the joint statement issued by the Soviet Union and the United States,
So in Novermber 1977, Anwar Sadat traveled to Jerusalem. During the first nine days
of November, he kept the idea of going to the Knesset to himself, finally he went. He
met the Israeli leaders; he met people with whom he had been enemies for many years.
He had sald, in 1972, that peace would come in the next generation, and five years
later he was In Jerusalem. But it was much easeir during those first forty-eight hours
in Jerusalem, with euphoria and expectations high, than it would be in the subsequent
eight or nine menths leading up to Camp David, to achieve anything substantial
between the sides. ]

Subsequent to Sadal's trip to Jerusalem, talks took place in Ismailia, Egypt,
Jerusalem, and Leeds Castle in England. 1t alf Ted up to the declsion by President
Carter in mid-1978 to invite Menachem Begin and Anwar Sadat to Camp David. The
fetters of invitation, which were signed by President Carter and were hand-delivered by
Secretary Vance, are now in the Jimmy Carter Presidential Library in Atlanta. If you
want to see an example of the economy of word usage by the thirty-ninth president of
the United States, I recommend that you read those letters. They are atso found in the
back of Bill Quandt's book on Camp David,

In September 1978, President Carter [nvited Menachem Begin and Anwar Sadat
and thelr delegations to Camp David, Tonight, these five gentlemen will speak to us
about thelr recollections surrounding events of Camp David. We have asked each of
the principals this evening to speak for fifteen minutes. We will then have questions
and answers. We want to give our principals an opportunity to query each other, to
probe into the memories of one another.
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Discussant: Hermann F. Eilts

Steir:  Our first speaker this evening is Hermann Frederick Eilts, a distinguished

. university professor of intemational refations at Boston University. Ambassador Eilts
was born in Germany, and received his B.A. from Ursinus Colicge and his M.A. from
ihe School of Advanced International Studies at Johns Hopkins Universily. Heis a
graduate of the National War College and the Army War Coilege. Afier serving in the
U.8. Army in North Africa and Europe as an officer in World War 1, Hermann Eills
joined the U.S. foreign service in 1947, He's seen diplomatic service in Tehran, Jidda,
Baghdad, Aden, Yemen, London, and Tripoli. He served as U.S. ambassador to Saudi
Arabla from 1965 to 1970; was depuly commandant of the Army War College at
Caslisle Barracks, Pennsylvania, from 1970 to 1973; and was U.S. ambassador to
Egypt from 1973 to 1979, participating in the Sinai I and Sinai 1l disengegement tatks
and the Camp David negotiations. He relired from the foreign service in 1979, and
that year joined Boston University. 1t is with great pleasure that 1 presenl lo you
Ambassador Hermann Frederick Eilts,

Eilis: Fifleen minutes is not a'great deal of time to talk about evenls that were so
momentous as those of Camp David, What T would fike to do in the fime that 1 have is
speak on the subject of President Carler and the Egyptian [eadership al Camp David.

Dr. Stein spoke a few moments ago of some of the events leading up to Canip
David, There's one event that I think deserves particular mention, because it has
tended to e forgotien, It happened in the first meeting in Washington that President
Carter hiad with President Sadat, shortly after the Carfer adminisiration took office.
President Sadat, at the time, had a certain sense of uneasiness about Cartor. He felt
Ahat during the election campaign, Carler had shown very pro-Isracli tendencios in
sottie of his remarks, and he was warried, initially, about the promise Prosident Ford
had made that if he was reelecled, the Ford administration would seek {o work out a
comprehensive seltlement rather than continue tho Nixon-Kissinger step-by-stop
spproach, Sadat had preity much concluded after Sinai IL that the step-by-step
approach was no longer viable, He was delighted when President Carter, very quickly
afler assuming office, accepled the concept of working toward a comprehensive
soltlement. 1t was inthat context that the effort of the Carler administration in its first
year in office was to get to a Geneva conlerence.

At that first meeting in February 1977, President Sadal said to. President Carter
that if we could work out a cessation of hostililies and peace, that should be enough.
President Carter responded, *You must understand, Mr. President, 1 cannot possibly
urge the Tsraelis to take the necessary action to withdraw from Sinai if there is not also
a willingiiess of the part of the Egyplian govesnment lo formally recognize and
establish diplomatic relations with Israel as part of any such package.” Of course,
diptomatic relations between the two slates have existed for a long time, but T want to
emphasize that in 1977, this was an exisgordinarily candid statement. No one in
previous administrations had gone so far as to say openly to the Egyplian president--
nor, for that matter, to other Arab leaders with whom negotiations were taking place--
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that what was critical, if one was going 1o ry to get Taracli withdrawai from occupied
territory, was & willingness on the Arab side to recognize Iscael formally and to have
diplomatic refations with that state,

President Sadst showed a bit of surptise that this had been put to him. He said
something like "Well, maybe we can think about, that In five years' time" To his
credit, President Carter said, "Five years, no, We can'i wait that long. ‘The two things
must happen at the same time.” 1In a senso, of course, that was a very normal thing,
but it was unusual for the Egyptian leadership to hear that proposition stated so
unequivocally. In due course, as the Camp David agreements were worked oul, and
then the peace treaty between Egypt and Israel, the diplomatic relatlons became part
. of it

Now, a word about Carmp David. When the Camp David meetings took place, one
of the immediate problems President Carter had to face was that Sadat--and 1I'm sure
we'lf hear about the views of Mr. Begin from my colleague, Ambassador Lewis--was
primed for bear. Whatever positive spirit had come out of his trip to Jerusalem, and
out of the tatks that were subsequently held by the two leaders in Ismailia, had
disappeared for a variety of reasons, Sadat had become convinced that the Israeli
leadership failed, as he put it, to recognize the psychological breakihraugh that he had
attempted to make in visiling Jerusalem. So he made it very clear that he, Sadat, was
looking for a confrontation with Mr, Begin at Camp David, and that he hoped
President Carter would support him In this. Thus, Carter's first problem was to cool
down, calm down, Sadat so that he did not come to the meeting, as he was ready to
do, leoking for a confrontation, and sour the conference at the outset,

A second problem that President Carter fuced very, very quickly was a growing
split between President Sadat and the members of the Hgyptian delegation. The
Egyptian delegation, very soon after Camp David had begun, concluded that President
Carter was having too much influence on President Sadat; that Sadat was making
concessions to President Carter. President Carter ceriainly worked very, very hard on
Sadat, Sadat had the greatest admiration for President Carter. And some of the
concessions Sadat seemed to be giving Carter went beyond what the Egyptian
government had assured its Arab friends it was willing to make at Camp David, Thus,
there was pressure on Sadat from his delegation, which included the deputy prime
minister (who had met with Moshe Dayan on two separale occasions in Morocco as a
result of the efforts of the king of Morocco), the minister of state for foreign affairs,
the minister of foreign affairs, and & number of very able and influential officials in the
Foreign Ministry, _

The Issue developed in this sense: What the Egyptians had wanted for some {ime-+
oven before Camp David--was & U.S, proposal that would take into account the views
of Israel and the views of Egypt, and could be used a3 a negotiating docutent. Now
that was indeed dene, but Mr, Begin made it very clear that a single document that
included both Sinai matters--that is, Egyplisn-Israeli matters--and West Bank/Gaza
matlers was unacceptable, 1t was therefore up to President Carter to persuads Sadat
to agree not only to split the single document into two separate drafis but also to insist
that these two dacuments not be linked. In other words, each document would stand
independently, and each would have 1o be implemented Independently, so that if
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something happened on one and nothing happened on the other, this would not bring
the implementation process {o a halt.

The fact that Sadat was persuaded by President Carter to accept that split, and the
legal separation of the iwo documents, waa & source of enormous concem to thé rest
of the Egyptian delegation, which constantly sought to persuade President Sadat to
stop making the kinds of concessions that President Carter soughl, The Egyptian
delegation tried hard to bring those two now separate documents together again, 5o
there would be at least some kind of formal relationship between them. Generally
speaking, the Egyptian delegation was unsuccessful,

The point F'm making is that the spirit of the Egyptian delegation at Camp David,
their morale, was very tense--parily because of the concern that the refationship
between President Carter and President Sadst had become so close that Sadat was
willing to make the kinds of concessions {hat President Carter wanted, and that the
members of the delegation felt were deleterious to Egyplian interesis and to the Arab
world as a whole, It was a very difficult situation. President Carter deserves greal
credit for handling Sadat so that the Egyptian president had developed a degree of
confidence in Carter, in Carter's willingness to be evenhanded, 10 work out something
that was fhir to both sides. Sadat frequently said to Carter, "I will ot let you down.”
That was clearly a siatement welcome to President Carter, and obviously very helpful
o him, At the same time, from the point of view of the rest ol the Egyptian
delegation, it was a source of trouble,

The eventual outcome of this tense situation was that the Egyplian foreign minister
resigned at the very end of the Camp David conference, on the Friday before the
meeting ended. And when the Camp David agreements were signed at the White
House on Sunday evening, the minister could not be prevailed upon (o allend the
signing ceremony, be was so bilter about the whole matter. 1t was President Carter,
through his efforis and the great confidence that Sadat had in him, who made it
possible to move forward against the wishes of the members of the Egypian
delegation. : ‘

I would add a finsl point or iwo, Some of you may have seen the film that
appeared a year or two ago on Camp David, which had a scene in which Begin and
Sadat met in the woeds of Camp David, and talked to each other, saying, "We two old -
terrorists, we know what it's about. Lel's forget it all and work it out.” No such thing
happened; it was pure fiction.

Indeed, another of the problems thnt President Carter had was o iry 1o get Sadat
and Begin together. My colleague, Ambassador Lewis, and I had urged President
Catter, just before the Camp David meeting, thal given the stale of tension between
Sadat and Begin, he shoukl not try ta get them together at the beginning; we had
waened that this would not work, President Carter nevertheless tried to do so. The
first day went all right, but the second day did not go well at all. From that point on,
Sadal and Begin rarely talked to each other. Certainly they did not talk in sny
negotiating fashion. 1t was necessary for the American delegation to go back and
forth between the Israelis and the Egyptians in order to gel anything done. 'The two
principal leaders, whatever had come out of the earlier Jerusalem talks and the Ismailia
talks, had become very bitter toward each other, | must say in fairness thal Begin was
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less bitter and President Sadat more so, for he had concluded that the "spirit” of his
Jerusalem visit should have been appreciated more by the Isracli prime minister,

As [ recall the Camp David meeting, the elements affecting the Bgyptian sido were
the principal problems that quickly emerged. President Carter had to be the mediator
not only between the Isracli delegation and the Egyptian delegation, but aiso, In a
sense, between Sadat and the objecting members of the Egyptian delegation. It was
not an easy task, and it wasn't made any easier by the close confines of Camp David.

I've always recalled with a great deal of nostalgia that this was the only lime in my
diplomatic experience--which goes back to the end of World War Il--and my
involvement in the Arab-Israeli problem, which dates fram the inception of the state of
Israel, that it was possible to get senior Israeli officials (the prime minister), Egyptian
officlals including the president, and Americans together, even though their dialogue
was limited to nonsubstantive matters. And despite the enormous difficulties of
bringing them together and of finally gotting a few on each side to talk to each other, it
wmed out be possible to draft and sign the two Camp David agreements, They may
have been modest in substance, but they were nevertheless tho greatest success in this
very difficult Arab-Tsraell issue that we had had untii that time--and, for that matter;
that we have had since, :
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Discussant: Samuel W, Lewis

Stein: Just as Ambassador Eiils has given you a sense of Egypt's view, or a view,
peshaps, through Sadal's prism, we are fortunate this evening to have Ambassador
Samuel W. Lewis, who is president of the Uniled States Ingtitute of Peace, and during
the Camp David process was U.5. ambassador to Esrael,

Mr. Lewis was born in Houston, Texas. He's a cum laude graduate of Yale
University with a master's degree in international relations from Johna Hopkins
University, He was in the foreign service for thirly-one years. In his last posl, he
served for eight years as ambassador lo Tsrael. He wasa prominent actor in the Arab-
Tsraeli negotiations, including participation in the Camp David accords. Ambassador
Lewis also served as assistant secretary of state for internatioral organizalion affhirs;
as depuly director of the Policy Planning Stalt -as a sentor staff member of the
National Securily Council; as 8 member of the United States Agency for Internationnl
Developtment Mission to Brazil; and had lengthy assignments in Itafy and Afghanistan.
He retired from the State Department in 1985, and he has served on numerous
occasions as Bill Quandt's tennis partner. :

Before assuming the presidency of the U.S. Instilute of Peace on November 1,
1987, he was diplomat-in-residence at the Johns Hopkins Foreign Policy institute, and
guest scholar at the Brookings Institution. It is wilh great pleasure that 1 present (o
you Ambassador Samuel W. Lewis,

Lewis: Ken Stein has st out quite a task for this disparate group of old diplomatic
colleagues, and we each come at it, I suppose, with slightly different prejudices. Bill
Quandt, who's going lo speak very shortly, has wrilten the delinitive book, Camip
David, about the negotiations themselves, all the events that Jed up to the Camp David
conference, and some of those after it. I's hard to do better than Bill in describing the
diplomacy or the delails of the negotiating dilemmas; or, indeed, to describe betler
than he has President Carter's unique contribution and role.

What | want to do is what Hermann Eilts has just done, (rom the other side of the
mirror: talk sbout the role personality played in this outcome, egpecially the
personalities of Menacham Begin and of Jimmy Carter, To do so, it's important lo go
back a bit before Camp David.

Begin, you will recall, was elected prime minister of Israe! in May 1977, just four
months after Carter took office, well after Carler had launched his effort to reconvene
the Cleneva conference to achieve 8 comprehensive peace settlement in the region.
And Begin, who had a reputation as an underground fighter, a radical right-wing
politician, and a warmonger, was the fast Israeli prime minister anyone would have
predicted to be the first to achieve peace with an Arab neighbor.

I arrived in Isract the day after Begin's election. I spent several hours with him
informatly over lunch three days after 1 arrived, well before he had taken office, And |
came, in that informal exposure to him, to understand some things about him that ran
through the next three years as an important feitmotif in his relationship lo President
Carter. 1 found that Menacham Begin was an enormous admirer of the United States,

. . é
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and in particular of the American presidency snd of American presidents. As an
outcast in Jsraeli politics all of his career, he yearned for acceptance as a fegitimate
political leader and as Israel's proper prime minister. Those two elements--his
admiration for American presidents, whoever they were, and the United States; and his
yearning for acceptance and legitimacy as Tsrael's leader--were interwoven in the way
he reacted to Carter's diplomacy. Carier came to understand those characteristics of
Prime Minister Begin, and I think his understanding enabled him to work through a
very difficult series of policy conflicts with Begin over the next eighteen montha in a
constructive and ultimately successful way,

There was a big debate in Washington, prior to Begin's first visit as prime minister
in July 1977, as to whether lie should be treated with honey or with vinegar. His
views on the West Bank and its permanent role in Ysraeli life, and lts historical
cannection to the Jewish state, were well known. There were many in Washington at
the time who felt that President Carter should lay the law down to Prdme Minisier
Begin ai the beginning, and make clear what was acceplable to the United States and
what wasn't, Having some role in recommending to President Carter hiow to deal with
Begin, I argued that in the long run, President Carter would achieve more success in
bringing Begin to accept the necessary compromises for peace if he gave him honor
and legitimacy at their first eacounter,

For that first session, Cader accepted that strategy, and uniil March of the
following year attempted to follow it rather consistently. It was a tough time for
President Carter, Menacham Begin was 8 very difficult prime minister to deal with:
proud; very concemed with legalities and the detalls of every negotiation and every
document; Immersed in Israel's traglic history and in the much longer tragie history of
the Jewish people; highly defensive about any impugning of Israel's legitimacy or of its
equality with other nations; very sensitive to personal stights,

But there developed between Carter and Begin a unique and interesting positive
connection over months of meetings and negotiations and messages, and
disagreements. That bond was grounded, I think, in Carter's religious convictions, in
his upbringing as a Christian who understood the centrality of the Holy Land for
American culture and for his own religion, and in an understanding of the history of
the Jewish people in lts biblical context. This provided an avenue for Begin and Carter
to communicate, often when they could not carry on useful discussions about current
issues. They could talk about the Bible, and they could talk sbout events of Jewish
history that revealed something about Israeli behavior that Carter could understand,

Carter studied Begin very carefully, as 1 assume he studied Sadat. And as with
every aspect of his Middle East diplomacy, he immersed himself in the details of
Begin's history: he read his autobiography; e learned as much as he could about
Begin's personal experiences during World War 11. President Catter also came to
realize that the tiresome, lenglhy, legal disserfations about histery and about the
interpretation of language in documents that Begin so oflen subjected him to had to be
endured, for they were an important part of Begin's psyche, This need to explain his
actions in legal and in historical terms was central to his personality. Carter came to
understand that, and as & man with an extraordinary degree of self-control and self-
discipline, he sat through some very, very wearying sessions over those eighteen
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months before Camp David, without ever--except on rare occasions--leiting his anger
show. '

1 referred a moment ago to Begin's admiration for American presidents, Degin,
throughout their relationship, desperately wanted Jimmy Carter's approval and
friendship. He wanted them because Carter was president of the Uniled States; he
wanted them on personal terms, because he admired Carter, and Carfer's enormous
allention to detsil, capacity for work, and wish to help bring peace to the region, At
e same time, Begin was anxious for Sadal's [ricndship, and onc of his great
disappointments during the eighteen months before Camp David was the graduat
realization that Sadat disliked him. After the initial visit--that almost miraculous visit
to Jerusalem by an Bgyptlan president after decades of warfare and bloodshed--
relations belween Sadat and Begin steadily soured. During Sadal's visit, Degin
believed that he and Sadat liad struck up a special friendship. And he conlinued to
hope that their friendship was going to endure and be a bridge for the building of
peace between the two nations. It was only in the spring of 1978 that Begin began to
realize that Sadat found him quile disagreesble, and really didn't care to be in his
presence, Begin was & very proud person; he hated to admit this, even to himself. 11
gnawed at him, for it then became more and more clear that President Carler, whom
Begin admired and wanted as a friend, greatly preferred Sadat.

There was a fascinating triangutar relationship here. Begin was the one mosl cager
for acceplance, yet he was the odd man out. That, Carter understood; Sadat, I
supposze, also undesstood it. Begin came 1o understand it later than the other two, and
he tried to suppress, throughout the rest of his relationship with President Carler, his
disappointment, his envy, about Sadat's preferred position among Carler's diplomatic
friends. But it was difficult for him, and it oflen eame oul in small ways. 1t led me to
encourage Prestdent Carter to try to find opportunilies to send noles to Prime Minister
Begin, to speak to him on personal matters, for Begin was a man not only of great
pride, but also of considerable emotion about human relationships. So even when a
policy dispule was unbridgeable, if you could communicate with Degin about
something that had to do with his family or his personal concerss, it helped to get you
over {hat immediate crisis in the policy arena. President Carter came lo vse personal
correspondence with Begin to this end very effectively,

Now, as regards Camp David itself, | want to make one remark about Hermann
Eilts's comment that afler e second day, Sadat and Begin didn't spend much time
together. Bill Quandt, in his book, makes it quite clear that this was Carler's decision.
Begin was still anxious to meet with Sadat; Sddal was, | think, worn out {rom
meelings with Begin, 1t was Carter's decision that if he continued his approach of the
first two days, bringing the two men together with him as a triumvirale, letting them
talk frankly lo each other in his presence, the conference would blow up. Carter had
planned on graduslly getling a lot of the misunderstandings out of the way, and
moving on to policy izsues, but the chemistry was so unworksble that each meeting
became less and less promising, and more and more explosive. Carter concluded by
the end of the second day that he had to keep the other two principals apart;
otherwise, the conference would fail prematurely. I think he was probably correct
about that, So ualil the deat was finally struck, they didnt meel apain. All the
communication was done through their subordinates or through Carter,
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I want to say just one quick word about the Tsraeli delegation st Camp David. It
was, a3 usual in Tsrael, very disputatious, very noisy, very talented, and very important.
Whereas Sadat was apparently struggling alone against the combined views of his
delegation, who were trying to hold him back from making concessions, the Isracti
delegation was the other way around. It was Begin who was standing fast against his
delegation, who, in different ways, were pushing him to be nore accommedating and
more accepting of compromise formulas--proposed, usunlly, by the United States.
Moshe Dayan, Ezer Weizman, and Attormney General Aharon Barak, now a Supreme
Court justice, wers the three key members of the Isracli delegation, In different ways,
they all played crucial roles in helping Begin find ways to accept formulations of
language that, in the first instance, his legal mind found totally unacceptable,

At Camp David, President Carter came up with one of the most unusual devices
any negoliator has ever introduced in an international conference. Eaily in the second
week, the effort to work out the overall framework for the Palestinian part of the
problem was foundering. The issues had been divided into two separate frameworks:
onie for Israeli-Egyptian relations and the withdrawal from Sinai, which, by and large,
was going fuirly well; and one much more complex framework dealing with the West
Bank and Gaza, which was still a long way from any agreement. Carter realized that
the techniques being used--the United States producing a paper, gelting comments
separately from the Egyptians and from the Israelis, rewriting the paper, then giving it
ta each side for now comments, #ll the whie controlling the deafls—-although excellent,
were not cracking the fundamental difference, which was that Begin was totally
convinced Israel should never leave those territories, Sadat had to have some kind of
commitment in principle to withdrawat if he was to take care of what he conceived to
be his Arab and Palestinian audience.

So Carter persuaded Begin and Sadat each to name one senior member of his
delegation to a drafting committee, and Carter selected Cyrus Vance a3 his member,
Carler then chalred--as president--this working group: Barak for the israelis, Osama
¢l-Baz for the Egyplians, and Vance for the Americans, They worked with Carter for
fieen, twenty, or thirty hours--drafting and redrafling the language. Carter, as
president, was of course rot dealing with equals but with subordinates. Once he had
Barak and el-Baz commited to a new draft, he would charge Barak with the job of
selling Begin on what the commiites had produced, El-Baz had the same task with the
Egyptians. It tumed out that Begin had great confidence in Barak as a jurist, he was
persuaded by him to accept Janguage that he would never have accepted directly from
Carier, or directly from Sadat, Dayan, Weizman, and others In Begin's defegtion
pushed Begla In the same direction; and Barak proved to be particularly ingenious al
formutating arguments to show Begin in legal terms why he could accept something
that seemed to him, st first blush, to be impossible.

This was only one of & number of ingonious innovations that Carter brought to
Camp David, like keeping the press away and forcing all the delegations to speak only
through one press spokesperson--the U, 8.spokesperson, Jody Powell. This minimized
the fmpact of domestic political pressures on Begin from Israe! and on Sadat from
Egypt or elsewhere In the Arab would, which would have resulted from free press
access to leaks from within the Camp David walls.

o
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Unfortunately, by the time the conference was over, all of Carter's cfforts to keep
his self-contro! had almost wom away before the very difficull negoliating tactics
Begin employed. Late on the night before the conference ended, there developed a
misunderstanding about Carler's insistence that Begin commit himself to freeze all new
seltlements in the West Bank and Gaza for the entire period of negotiation of the
autonomy agreement that was to be the follow-on stage to Camp David. Begin never
afterward admitted that he had committed himself to such a profonged frecze; Carter
was convinced--and is convinced today--that Begin did, and hat he changed his mind
overnight. 'This issue, although it did not hold up he signing of the agreement, came
to poison the relationship between Begin and Carter in the months ahead, and was one
of the most important reasons why the follow-on negotiations to Camp David over
autonomy for the West Bank -and Gaza were ultimalely unsuccessful. What was al
siake here was the tenuous mutual tsust that Caster had established with Begin, which
survived with difficulty through Camp David, though somehwat frayed, and was then
practically destroyed by the disagreement about what had occurred right at the end of
the conference. Had Carter and Begin had a stronger relationship before Camp David,
I suppose it would not have sulTered so much from that misunderstanding. Indecd, the
(wo men managed with considerable difficully to work togelher to complete the
formal peace trealy over the next nine months, But the fundamentals of their personal
refationship were ostablished, and then soured, by the way Camp David ended. This
episode again suggesis that, with these three unique leaders, personality interaction
played an enormous role in the outcome of President Carter's greatest diplomalic
trivmph.
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Discussant: William B. Quandt

Stelm: Our next speaker is Willlam B, Quandt, senior fellow in foreign pollcy studies
ut the Brookings Institution. Dr. Quandt s an expert on the Middle East and
American policy toward the Arab-lsrael conflict.

Dr. Quandt was bomn in Los Angeles in 1941, the second year that Anwar Sadat
was at the Military College; their paths would cross thirty years later. From Stanford
. Unlversity in 1963, Dr. Quandt received his B.A. degreo, and his Ph.D. in political
science from MIT in 1968. Before coming to Brookings in 1979, Dr. Quandt served
as o staff member of the National Security Council. He was also an associale
professor of political scienca al the Univeraity of Pennsylvania, and worked at the
Rand Corporation in the Depariment of Social Science from 1968 to 1972, During
1987-1988, he was president of the Middle East Studies Association, and he's &
menmber of the Middle East Institute Council on Foreign Relations. :

This evening, at the Axinn Library, I typed in Bill Quandt’s name and came up with
dine books. 1 won't read them all to you. Among his better-known ones are The
United States and Egypl; Camp David: Peacemaking and Politics, Decades of
Decision: American Foreign Policy Toward the Arab-Israeli Conflict, and The
Politics of Palestinian Natlonalism. 1 might say that his book on Camp David,
Peacemaking and Politics, is a treasure, and I commend it to you all, Bill tells me it's
in paperback and still available,

During the Camp David pracess, Dr. Quandt was a staff member of the National
Security Council, a position he held from 1972 to 1974, and again from 1977 through
1979. It's with great pleasure that I present to you Dr, William B. Quandt.

Quands; The perapective that I want to try to develop is derived from the position
that 1 had during this period. 1 wotked on the National Security Council staff} |
basically had two bosses—Zbigniew Brzezinski and Jimmy Carter. And in order to
keep them satisfied—-and they had a very big appetite for information about the Middle
Esst—1 depended very heavily on the kinds of reporis that thess iwo excellent
ambassadors filed from Cairo and Tel Aviv, and on the advice and judgment of my
colleague Hal Saunders, who was the assistant secretary at the State Department. We
worked about as much Bs a team as one could imagine.

1 want to iry to give you my perception of how the president approached Camp
David, and I want to reflect & bit on something of a paradox sbout the particular
individual who is the focus of this conference, Jimmy Carier. On the one hand, you
could say that he had a streak of optimism about human relations and sbout the way
the world works--perhaps even a streak of natvelé; he often talked about resolving
disputes through understanding and reaching hermony--*harmony® was & word that
came up over and over again; and 1 think he deeply belioved that most conflicts were
based on misunderstandings that could be resolved through evenhanded mediation.
Therefore, when he looked at the Arab-Israeli conflict, he was not particularly
overwhelmed by the magaitude of the task. He thought it could be vesolved. That
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went against the grain of many of the experls, who thought that it would be
extraordinarily difficull to resolve such a deep-rooted conflict, .

And thal's the Jimmy Caster with deep roots in his religious beliefs, who came cut
of the civil rights struggle, and saw in one generation the change in black-while
relations in the South. And it ig the mmy Carter who was, in fact, a bil oplimistic
and a bit naive about the world. But another Jimmy Carter came through in the Camp
David accords who was a rather tough-minded character about how you gel people to
agree, and was not above meking some prefy strong threats and exercising some
pretty heavy-handed influence. And I think anybody who tries to describe the man #s
having only one set of these characteristics is missing the comptexity of the human
being we're talking about.

Let me give you two anecdotes that show the different sides of the president. In
the preparations for Camp David, as always happens, the bureaucracy was asked to
gencrale briefing books, which turned oul lo be cnormous volumes--olten rather
unreadable in theie bulk, In this case, Secretary of State Cyrus Vance decided lo get a
fow of us together to develop the key memo in this briefing book for President Carter.
We spenl several days on & very nice retreat in Virginia--Hal Saunders was there, Roy
Atherton, and mysell--and we tricd to develop what we thought was the key

- memorandum that was going to clarify for the president exaclly what he liad to
achieve at Camp David. We tried to focus on the issue of linkage, which, simply
stated, was how the U.S. goverment would come down on the issue of whetlier the
Egyptian-Israeli agreement should be a stand-alone agreement that had no relationship
to the Palestinian issue, or whether, in some way, it should be linked to the resolution
of the Palestinian lssue. The Egyptian preference was for linkage;, the Isracli preference
was strongly against Hinkage; and we thought that, one way or anotfier, Carter's major
task was going 10 be to straddle this divide and find some way to get accommadation
between these two starkly different views.

As I recall, Carter took this bulky bock with him on a fishing vacation before
going to Camp David, thereby cfearing tis mind before the onslaught, Shortly before
meeling st Camp David, he called a number of us up and said, "I've read this book, and
it hasn't helped me very much, First of al, 1 don't get the big point about (his linkage
issue. You're trying to make something very big oul of something refatively simple.
Of course, we want an Egyplian-lsreali agreement, and of course we want to du lhe
bes! we can on Lhe Patestinian issue . . . | don't see whal you're talking about with this
linkage issue.” As § recall, we sort of went down the line. The secretary of state tried
to explain it, and Brzezinski tried to expluin it, and perhaps Hermana did snd Sam did
and Hal did. I was at the end of the line because | was the mast junior, and I Ginaily
tried. He said:

You've got il all wrong, all of you. Lot me tell you what's going 1o happen al Camp David, U've
invited Sadat and Begin here to help overcome the real probiem, and that is the Bact thal they don't
trust ane ancther, and they don't see the good points in each other's position. And by gelting them to
Canp Davld, away from the press and out of the glare of publicity, and away from their own political
consliluencics, 1 think I can bring them (o understand cach ollici’s posilions betier. My Infention Is (o
el with them for a couplo of days, iry lo work through the misunderstandings, and willin a very
few days--lwo or lhrgc days al the mosl--we will reach agrectment on broad principles. Then we can
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give Instructlons lo tha forelgn minlsiers, and they can go off and negoliale an sgreement, Thal's
what we'rs going to do al Camp David,

I don't know how the rest of you felt. My reactign was, "Oh, my goodness, we're
here for group therapy. What are we doing?" My Impression was, from everything I
had read, that Begin and Sadat could not stand one another, and that this was going lo
tum out to be a disaster. Nonetheless, the president convened Begin and Sadat the
first day; the first round was not an-easy ons, because Sadat came, as Hermann Eilts
mentloned, "loaded for bear,” He had a document with him that he insisted on reading
aloud that was very tough, and Prime Minister Begin had a very hard time controlling
himself, ‘The president kept saying, "Calm down, calm down, you'll have your
chance The next day, Prime Minister Begin had his chance, and the whole thing felt
apart. And as you have heard, they didn't really meet again for any substantive
purpose.

So this was a side of Jimmy Carter that was overly optimistic; that was a bit naive;

that thought reasonable human beings could sit around the table and, in due course,
reach an understanding. But that's not the only side of Jimmy Carter. Had that been
the only dimension of the man, Camp David would have ended on that third day, and
we all would have gone home.

The other side of Jimmy Carter was a man who understood that politics was the
art of making the deal that was available, And very early on, he sensed--certainly
before I sensed it, and before many of the others did--thal the most readily attainable
deal was one between Egypt and Israel; whatever elss we could get was fine, but we
shouldn't miss the opportunity to get that. The great advantage of working at the
White House is that you get to participate In the briefing book that's done at the State
Department--that is, if you have good refations with the assistant secretary; you also
get to put your own memo on top of it before it goes to the president. So the memo
that went on top of this briefing book was a scenario for how Camp David should
unfold. We advised him to try to reach agreement with Begin and Sadat on broad
principles that would address a comprehensive settlement in the Middle East, and not
detailed agreements. And we had several scenarios for how he might try to do this.

Carter's reaction after reading this--and he was a reader; he read virtually
everything that went to him--was to say, "You're not aiming high enough. We can do
better than just get broad principles. At a minimum, we can get the framework for an
Egyptian-Isracli peace treaty." Most us were surprised that that was what he had in
mind. We had been working on the assumption that we were trying to get something
more general, within which we could develop the framework for an Egyptian-Israeli
treaty. He said, I think we can get it, and 1 think Sadat's ready for i.”

Looking back on what Carter had in mind, he was, on the one hand, more
ambitious; he wanted full treaties, everything except the signatures, at Camp David,
But it also had a narrower focus, and ultimately, it was more reafistic than what we
had in mind. I've tried to figure out where Carter got the notion that this was what
was attainable. I trace it back to meetings that he had with President Sadat at Camp
David in February 1978. None of us were present after the first meeting, which was a
rather gloomy one. Sadat was very discouraged, very depressed, We left, and they
spent the weekend together at Camp David. I've never known for sure what happened
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there, but 1 do know that when President Carter cante away from those meetings, he
asked us to try to think through what the implications of a separate Egyptinn-Israeli
agreement would be. I think we sent a ¢able 1o our embassies in Cairo and in Israel
and elsewhere, asking precisely that question. Carter alteady had staried thinking
about what we could reaily get, and he was on to that much earlier than we. And he
was right, Sadat ultimately was prepared to go for & separate agreement,

At Camp David, President Carter played many different rofes, but the role he

" played that I think was most impressive was laking the issue of the bilateral agreement
belween Egypt and Israel, and becoming the desk officer for it Hal Saunders did most
of the drafting of the initial agreement, the overall comprehensive settfement.  But
Jimmy Carter wrote the ficst dralt of the Egyplian-lsraeli agreement. It went through
several variations, as did Hal's drafl, and I think that some twenly versions later, we
finally got agreement on a much different version. But Jimmy Carter, in his own
handwriting, drew up the first version of the Egyptian-Isracli agreement. This
suggests to me that here was a man who, despite his naiveté and optimism, was also a
fuirly crafty pofitician who knew that there were certain things you could gel and
cerlain things you couid not, . ) : ‘

So I think we need to understand that the man had two dimensions, not just one:
not just the naive optimist, not just the shrewd politician or negotiator. ‘The two came
in a package, and at various times each served him very well, and at other {imes each
tended to exasperate us. But in the end, it was the combination of Carter's optimism--
his belief that peace was possible, despite the advice of some of the pundits--and the
reatization that there was a particular angle to this conflict that was susceptible to
resclution now, that made it possible 1o reach the agreement we reached in 1978, And
in that sense, Camp David really is Jimmy Carter's finest achievement.
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Discussant: Harold H. Saunders

Stein: ‘The next speaker is Dr, Harold Saunders. For twenty years, Hai Saunders
worked continuously on the National Security Council (NSC) staff in the White
House, or in the State Department. He has been at the center of Washington policy-
making on the Middle East. After leaving government in 1981, he focused more
broadly on the conduct of intemational relationshps in cur changing wostd. From
1981 to 1986, he was & resident fellow at the American Enterprise Institute for Public
Policy Rescarch; he is now a visiting fellow at the Brookings Institution in
Washington, D.C.

A Philadelphian, Dr. Saunders receved an AB. in English and American
civilization from Princeton University in 1952, and a Ph.D. in Ametican siudies [rom
Yale in 1956. As a U.S. Air Force licutenant from 1956 to 1959, he served in the
Central Intelligence Agency, .and stayed as intelligence analyst until he moved to the
NSC staffin 1961, In the State Department, he served last as assistant secretary for
Near Eastern and South Asian affairs from 1978 to 1981, He was a key member of
the smali U.S. team that mediated five Arab-lsracli agreements from 1974 o 1979,
including the Klssinger shuttle agreements, the Camp David accords, and the
Egyplian-Istacli peace treaty. He also helped negotiate the release of American
hostages from Tehran in 1981.

His most important book, The Other Wall: The Politics of the Arab-Israel Peace
Process, published in 1985, builds on earlier writing about negotiation and describes
the Arab-Israel peace process as negotiation embedded In (srger political processes.
" His current project is a book extending that approach to the politics of international
relationships globally. A longer-term project is & study of presidential policy-muking
in regard to the Arab-Tsraeli conflict, I'm sure any of these gentlemen at this table
would attest that Hal Saunders is a gentleman's gentleman, the quintessential diplomat.
He has given advice and counsel to all ofus. It is with great pleasure that T presenl to
you Dr. Harold H. Saunders.

Sautiders: 1 have to say two words of Introduction. First of all, 1 did, and do, respect
Jimmy Carter enormously, and the remarks (his evening are reflections in no way
intended to be critical, The other thing I want to say s that | have often thouglit about
our shared experience at Camp David as one of the finest human experiences of my
career. 1 think it was one of the finest professional experiences as well, but more
important was the human experience. I say that for two reasons, First of all, 1 worked
with these gentlemen and our absent colleague, Roy Atherion, throughout the peace
process, from the end of the 1973 war, when Bill Quandt and 1 were colleagues in the
NSC, through the Camp David accords and the Bgyptian-Israeli peace reaty. 1 have
never kniown a finer group of human beings or a more capable group of professionals.
We liked working together, and 1 think it showed in what we did.

But to follow up Biil Quandt's insights into Jimmy Carter, my primary point in
spesking of this as & human experience wes that in my book--1 worked for five
presidents—it was a model of how & president can use the professionals around him,

=i




Discussants 165

At Camp David, Carter leatned that if he was about to see Begin, he could call Sam
over and try out a few ideas on him, and Hermann when he was going to see Sadat;
when he really wanted something thought through privately with his staff--with Zbig
and Ham Jordan and Jody Powell--he got Bilt to do the drafing; and if it was a larger
issue, he'd get me over there on the drafting. He really learncd how o work with us as
individuals, and 1 think alt of us are deeply proud not only 1o have been part of the
achievement, but also to have worked with Jimmy Carter in that way. 1 cannot pass
up the opportunity at this conference on the presidency of Jimmy Carter to say that.

When 1 talk about Camp David, in many cases l'n asked to talk about the
negotiations. 1usually spend three-quarters of the lime talking sbout the Arab-lsracti
peace process before Camp David, and about a quarter talking about negoliations at
Camp David itself. As Ken said in his introduction, 1 came away from the 19703
seeing the Asab-lsraeli peace process as a series of negotiations embedded in a larger
political process. Now, in this case, we are focusing on the person of Jimmy Carter.
Therefore, 1 need to go back and think a little about how Jimmy Carter got ihat way;
why did that person, with the attributes described by my colteagues, come to Camp
Davld to deal with this particular problem?

This point has broader applicabllity in the series of conferences thal Hofstea has
tun on the postwar presidents, It would be my thesis about any president that the
piclurc of a problem that a president brings to the Oval Office shapes his approach to
that problem throughout his presidency. He certainly learns from experience; he may
refine that picture from experience; but it is Tikely to color his approach through much
of his administration. So an important question to ask is what was the Presidenl's
early exposure lo the prablem? This question poinls to a more specilic body of
evidence than, for instance, the notion of some scholars that a president's worldview
shapes his approach to policy problems. OF course it does; but what wore inleresled
in here is what his particular exposure was, and how he interpreled that exposure in
the context of his larger worldview.

Looking at the postwar presidents in relation to (his particular problem is
interesting. 1 always knew when 1 worked for Lyadon Johnson (hat he hiad a sofl spot
in his heart for srael, and I wondered why. And then 1 realized, yenrs laler, that
during the 1930s, when he was a young congressman, he came to know leaders of' the
American Jewish community, and he worked to help escapees from the impending
Nazi holocaust come through Cuba and find haven here in the Uniled Stales. fle had a
formative human experience helping people deal wilh that harrible siluation, so of
course he had a soft spot in his heart for the Jewish experience at that time. Each of
the presidents lins his own story. Jack Kennedy, #s a sccond-term junior at Harvard,
spent part of the summer in 1939 in Palestine. There's a wonderful four-and-a-hall
page letter he wrole to his father—then the ambassador to Britain--about that
experience: a nice description of the future job of a fulure president of the United
States.

Well, in a nutshell now, turing to Carter and lis exposure lo (his problem, 1
would say that he saw the Arab-Tsraeli conflict more as & human rights problem then as
a human or political problem. Let me elaborate. What was lis exposure to ihis
problem? The first two elements come logether. There was, of course, his educalion
in the Bible, which, as we alt know, has been a serious parl of the life of Jimmy Caster
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since his early days, Then there was his 1973 trip to Israel, a trip arranged for him--as
for many other American public figures—-by the government of Israel, I think it's fair
to say that Carter's predominant experience on that trip was more one of placing the
biblical experience in its geographical setting than it was one of deep thought about the
poticies of the govemment of Israel. Although theds two elements account for a
greater exposure to the Tsraeli side of the problem than to the Arab side, the interesting
point is that Jimmy Carier came to thie presidency, almost uniquely among postwar
American presidents, knowing that there were two sides to this conflict.

By March 1977, at a Town Meeting in Clinton, Massachusetts, he spoke of a
homeland for the Palestinians and shock a lot of people up by doing 50, I asked him,
"Why, Mr. President, did you, of all people, come to office putting the Palestinian
dimension of this conflict as far forward In your perception of the problem as you
did7® His answer was one sentence: "I saw it as a human rights problem.” And that
answer led to a discussion of how he came out on the liberal end of the spectrum in his
Georgia community and in his Southern Baptist Conference. The detailed answer to
that is appropriate to other panels in this conference, but T simply wanted to record for
purposes here tonight his responss to the question *Why, Mr. President, did you wind

up at the liberal end of the spectrum?” His answor was, "My molher was a nurse who -

treated people who were sick, regardless of color.”

In some way, though, Carter saw the plight of tho Palestinians through lenses
shaped by his experience with segregation and desegregation in Georgla. But, at the
same time, to use his words, "Before [ became president, 1 never met an Arab.* And
then he corrected himself. "Oh, yes, T did. A fiiend of mine took me to a racetrack in
Florida, and thers were a couple of young Arab gentlemen theve, . . . they were friends
of my friend, and he introduced me to them. But I never met an Arab," Carter speaks
of learming about this and other problems from reading. He is an avid reader and
schalar. To use his own words again, "I took delight--it wasn't a chore; I took delight
--in leamning as much as I could, I read all of Henry Kissinger's transcripls of his talks
with Chou En-lai, end Nixon's with Mao Tse-tung. 1 read all about the 1.8.-Soviet
negotiations,” He was a leamer, but he did it from reading.

When I talked with him about what he had read, Carter couldn't come up quickly
with titles of books, but for a presidential candidate, it's not so much that he read
books; it's that he reads. People were always sending him memos and one thing and
another; no wonder he couldn't remember everything he sawl But he did read, One of
the documents that we know he read--and it might be interesting to hear Bill talk a
fittle bit about this later--came to be called the Brookings Report. It was one of those
things that prominent think tanks do in election years to take a look at a pressing
problem that the new president would face, and to put it in perspective. The team that
wrote the first Brookings Report was a collection of American scholars, former
praclitioners in govemment, Jewish Americans, Arab Americans; they tried to get a
really good cross-section. Bul the interesting thing to me was nol that it said, "Well,
there should be a Palestinian entity of some kind, We should go back to Geneva.”
Rather, in the context here tonight, it was that from the perspective of somebody like
myself in the government, this was 2 document that recorded what we all thought.
This was the prevailing mode of thinking among those who had been in the peace
process. T even think 1 remember that the president of the foundation that funded the
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exercise had permission from Henry Kissinger to produce a public study that would
say what we in the government could not yet say. Thesefore, it was part of the
wisdom of all of those who had been close to the process, in government and out,

1 make the point because Carter sbsorbed that, and ke wasn'l so far, therefote,
from the community of people who cared about this problem. And the remarkable
thing {o me was that Cy Vance came in as secretary of state; it was Carter and Zbig
Brzezinski and Bili Quandt over in the White House, and myseif and Roy Atherton and
colleagues. We got logether on our strategy of trying lo move the peace process back
to Geneva without writing more than two or three memos, We knew where we were
going because it was in the air that that's where we shoutd go. If Henry Kissinger had
been returned to the secretary of state's office and Gerald Ford to the Oval Office, we
would have done about the same thing as the Carler administeation did at the
beginning, I think. Caster put his own particufar spin on ihis because, as I said, he had
a particular readiness to recognize that there were [wo sides lo the conllict.

My point in all this was that he came o his views by reading, not by dealing with
human beings. And it's interesting what this can do to someone. Again, alter he lelt
ihe presidency, afier he traveled to the Middle East for the frst time out of office, e
said to me--he'd had a wonderful meeling with people, wilh Palestinians in the West
Bank and Gaza--"You know, you and Bill Quandt told me a great deal aboul the
Palestinians and their needs and their interests . . . Crown Prince IHassan of Jordan is a
wonderful student of this preblem, and he talked te me about it . . . 1 discounted most
of what you said, because [ thought that you were pressmg an experls point of view.
But now I've met them, and 1 understand."

But Carter didn't meet them before he became president. So he didn't lave the
formalive experience that Johnson had of helping Jewish refirgees escape the Navi
holocausl; he didn't learn from people the way Johnson and Kennedy and others did.
Even in the campalgn, his refationship with the Jewish community wasn't particularly
close; the Jewish vote, in the end, was criticaf, but it was, as ho thought, grudging and
very lale in the campaign. So he came to office with an analylical view of the problem.
He had a biblically inspired sympathy for the Jewisl experience, historically, over four
millennia; but he also had an unusually balancing human rights perspective on the
Palestinian experience, and an analytical recognition thal you couldnt bring about
peace unless you dealt with beth sides of the problem.

Now, relurning for a moment to some of my farger thoughts about the gresidency,
i's my feeling that a president doesn'l have his own policy loward a problem untit he's
a half a dozen months or more into the administralion and has had a chance to grapple
with this problem as president. And of course, during 1hat time, Carter had his
meetings with Sadat and with first Prime Minister Rabin of Israel and then Menacham
Begin. 1 think his exposure to Sadat was cerlainly more gratilying than his initial
meeting wilh Rabin, and probably than his initial meeting with Begin, so his tendency
to see the Arab side of the problem as worthy of allcnl:on was analytically reinforced
by his personal rapport with Sadat.

This leads me io a much shorter serics of comments aboul Camp David itsell, since
my colleagues have deall with it in some detail. Camp David was a triumph of
mediation and negoliation, not just a triumph of politics. | would say thal just as

Carter's piciure of the problem was drawn analylically rather than from human and -
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political exposure, s0 was his approach to a solution. In brief, he relied heavily on
negotistion. His dramatic political intervention--the Camp David accords themselves,
the process—-and his trip to the Middle Enst afterward to wrap up the details of the
Egyptian-Israeli peace treaty were directed at bringing about a successful negotiation.
Sam and Bill desoribed the work of Carter--his Ingenlous work with his drafiing group
and his writing the first draft of the Egyptian-Isracli peace lreaty. ‘That was his ability;
he was, indeed, the engineer putting the picces together to form a structure.

1 believe that the Camp David accords and the peacs treaty that followed were a
dramatic and historic achievement; 1 believe there was a genius in them; I'm proud, as I
14id, to have been part of them, But all of us here at this table understand where they
fall short. 1 personally had the job, about a month after Camp David, of going to the
Middle East and trying to persuade King Hussein of Jordan and Crown Prince Fahd of
Saudi Arabia and the West Bank Palestinians that there was something in Camp David
for them, I think there's no point in mincing words: 1 failed. I didn't convinge them,
because there were too many shoricomings in the approach as they saw it. The
accords fell short because they did not transform the Arabs’ political environment, or
the Tsracli-Palostinian relationship, enough to permit full implementation. My
conclusion about the peace process is the one that Ken stated: the peace process was
a series of negotiations embedded in a larger political process. Only when the
pofiticians had changed the political environment did we, as mediators, have a prayer,
Change isn't inltiated in the negotiating room; it's initiated In the political arena, and
the mediators and negotiators only caplure It on paper.

Ws did not succeed In generating between Iscaelis and Palestinians a political
process for transforming their relationship comparable with that between Egypt and
Istael. Part of the reason for that, to come back to my original point, is that President
Cacter saw this more as 1 problem in negotiating human rights than as a political and
human problem: of transforming a relationship. Having made that statement, I will
now answer it, In part, by saying that the Camp David accords were one of those
Instruments in history that are essential to staking out a framework for the evolution of
a subsequent negotiating and political process. I believe that if we had been able 1o
implement the Camp David accords in the years afier 1979--1980 through 1983--the
political process would have emesged from that. So I am not denigrating the
achievement at Camp David. I'm simply saying it wasn't allowed to be realized in a
political process. )

My final judgment is not one of criticism but an analytical suggestion. It comes
from the way King Hussein of Jordan described his concerns to me during that trip in
October 1978. And T would paraphrase him in these words: *The Camp David
framework is cerainly sincere; it might even be a reasonable approach at gelling
something started between the Israelis and Palestinians. But I just don't think you are
politically able to deliver its full implementation as you desctibe your purpose.” And
we haven't,

#
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Discussant: Daniel C. Kurtzer

Stein: Hal has set a very formidable stage for our last speaker, Dan Kurtzer. Since the
accords signing ullimately resulted in the March 1979 peace treaty belween Egypt and
Israel, many political Jeaders have blamed the accords for removing Egypt from
physicat confrantation with Tsrael, for making it easier for israel to go inlo Lebanon in
1982, for allowing the Israelis to impose a policy on the Arab world in the 1980s of
Do unto others before they do unto you,” What is quile clear is that since the Camp
David accords were negotiated, there have been many other ideas, many other plans,
many olher declarations, by various groups, by organizations--the Arab League--by
the European Community, by our government, that have sought fo build on, emend, or
tear down the Camp David accords—-the framework, if you will. In essence, the
accords have become a benchmark; they have become a basis from which many other
ideas and plans have emerged.

We are going to leave it fo our colleague from the State Department, Dan Kustzer,
fo speak about what has happened to the intent, the tone, and the substance of those
accords in the ten years since. Dr. Dan Kurizer, 8 foreign service officer, was
appointed deputy assistant secrelary of siate for Near Eastern and South Asian affairs
in June 1989. His reponsibilities include the Middle East peace process, 1).8. bilateral
relations with israel and Egypt, and Palestinian affwirs; he is not responsible for
Saddam Hussein's invasion of Kuwait.

Dr. Kurtzer was born in Elizabeth, New Jersey, and reccived his B.A. from
Yeshiva University, and his M.A,, his M.Phil. Middle East cerfificate, and his Ph.D.
from Columbia University. Dr. Kurizer and Jimmy Carter joined the federal
government the same year, 1976. Dan Kurtzer was assigned to the Burcau of
International Organization Affairs; Jimmy Carter went lo the While House. In 1977,
Dr, Kurlzer tock a leave of absence [rom the Stale Depariment to accept an
appoiniment as dean of Yeshiva College; he retuened to the Department of Slale in
1979, and was assigned as first secretary for political affairs at the U.S. Enbnssy in
Cairo. In 1982, he was appointed first secretary for political affairs in Tel Aviv. He
returned to Washinglon in 1986 to become deputy direcior of the Ollice of Ggyplian
Affwirs; in 1987, he was appointed 8 member of the sceretary of state’s policy planning
stalf, where he was a speech writer for the secrelary of the state; and he was an
adviser to the secretary and assistant secrelary for Near Eastern allairs on issues
relaling to the Middle East peace process. ilc lins twice received the Stele
Department's Superior Honer Award, and in 1985, the award of the director peneral
of the foreign service for political reporting. Every academic, overy schofar in the
United States who teaches Middle Eastern fistory, would like lo write like Dan
Kurtzer.

During the Camp David process, Dan was at Yeshiva College. It's wilh pleasure
that I present o you a dear personal friend, Dr. Daniel Kurlzer.

Kurtzer: 1t is & tough act to follow four of the greatest practilioners of the art of
diplomacy who have told us their oxperiences and shared wilh us their wisdon: about
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what contributed to the success of Camp David. 1 feel very much like the character at
the end of the "Rocky and Bullwinkie" show, who is left to saweep up the leftover
pieces--described, quite graphically, by both Hal Saunders and Sam Lewis as the
unfinished business of the Camp David accords.

Let me start with three reflections on the unfinished business of Camp David,
which will answer, in a rather complicated way, the simple question of what has gone
wrong since, and why successive American administrations have been unable to build
on Camp David and to fulfill its promise. '

First, immediately upon the completion of Camp David, as Ambassador Lewis
noted, there were problems concerning the accords themselves--problems that not only
would bedevil the treaty negotiations but also were to prove particularly troublesome
in the negotiations that related to the retolution of the Palestinian problem, Israeli-
Palestinian relations,-and the future of the West Bank and Gaza, Inherent in those
difficulties was the ndded dimension that for both Egypt and lsracl, for different
reasons, as well as for the Uniled States, the Egyptian-Israeli component of the Camp
David process became paramount, And so, although a great deal of time was spent by
Israeli, Egyptian, and American delegations moving back and forth between Cairo and
Tel Aviv to fry to negotiate a seif-governing authority, to try to negotiate Palestinian
autonomy, 1o see whether the promise of the second half of Camp David could be
fulfilled, in fact, the leadership of the three countries had their eyes very much on April
1982--the date by which Israel's withdrawal from Sinai was to be completed, and the
real promise of the peace treaty was to bo scen: full normalization of relalions, full
diplomatic relations, and full peace. ‘

In & sense, the negotiations to implement the second half of Camp David became a
bit of a sideshow. - There was, in fact, a3 Ambassador Lewis indicated, a challenge
from the oulsel in the efforts by both Bgypt and Israel to revise Camp David, to
reinterpret Camp David, and to lend to Camp David interpretations that were really
inconsistent with the spirit, if not the leiter, of the accords. This is manifest in the
dispute that erupted immediately after Camp David, and which continues today, over
whether the United States and Israe! could reach an undeestanding about the lsraeli
poticy of building new settements in the process of trying to bring about & peaceful
settlement of the Arab-Israeli dispute.

The environment after Camp David immediately was beset by other very pressing
regional concerns, as well as global concems. The Soviet invasion of Afghanistan; the
Yranian revolution; and Israel's 1982 invasion of Lebanon became primary moving
factors in the politics of the three key parties of Camp David, and they became excuses
for all to focus less much attention on the Israeli-Palestinian dimension.

A second way to look at Camp David and its aflermath is to look at politics.
Several speakers have talked about domestic politics and regional politics, that is, the
influence of the political process within states on the ability of states to negotiate, and
how they define their interests. The politics after Camp David--particularly in the
Untied States but also in Israe! and Egypt--changed considerably. If there was one
lesson that successive adminisications would learn about President Carter's effort at
Camp David, it is that it did not pay off politically. Jimmy Carter became vilified in the
communities that should have supported him the most: the Jewish and Arab. In fact,
the only place where Jimmy Carter ended up the hero in the aftermath of Camp David
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was in Egypt, where President Sadat and the leadership--even those who apposed
Sadal's policies--saw Carter's efforts a8 the harbinger of an American atiempt to lry to
bring about a comprehensive setifement.

But Egypt does not vote in this country, and so the presidents who followed
Jimmy Carter had to wonder whether it paid pelitically to invest the kind of time and
attention that Carter did in trying 1o bring aboul a Middle East accord. This did not
necessarily Jead 1o a decision to ignore the Middle East, but it had to raise doubls in
the minds of advisers as to whether Carter's kind of involvement in the Middle Easl
was worth the price that he ultimately paid.

What followed Carter's efforts was a prolonged period of stagnation in American
policy with regard to the peace process, in which the United States said that il could
not want peace more {lian lhe parties themselves. This is a teuism that happens lo be
true. But the one thing that Jimmy Carter demonstrated beyond a doubt is that tie
partics may want peace, but they cannol achieve it without outside help. They cannot
do themselves what the United States helps them to do, This allitude gave way (o tie
view that the parties needed to demonsteale an interest before the United Slates would
try lo move (s peace process forward.

In the Middle East, everyone is a politician. The same kinds of considerations that
molivale American presidents to shy away from the Middle Easl motivale the parties
themselves to shy away from the Middle East peace process. In Israc), afler Camp
David, great disappointment sel in alimost immediately over the terms of the peace
process, and particularly over the relationship that developed between Tsract and
Egypt. The promise of normalization, trade, open borders, and a new dimension in
Jsrael's refations with its neighbors never materialized. 1n Bgypi, oppesilion lo the
trealy among a significant’ political elite centinues, Although there is a basic
acceptance of the principle of peace on both sides, and the basic Instilutional
framework of peace remains intact, the relationship that was envisaged by all parties
before Camp David never came about, This led the politicaf leadership in both Isract
and Egypt to raise the same kinds of questions about the costs of a peace process that
American presidents would raise in the United Slales.

Let me suggest a third factor. in addition to the environment that was changing, in
addition to the politics that mililated against the fulfilment of Camp David, there was
the clement of leadership. A colleague of mine at the State Department has & thesis
that the age of heroic politics in the Middle Cast has ended. In facl, il we look
around, there are no David Ben-Gurions or Menachem Begins on the scene; and there
are no Gamal Abdel Nassers or Anwar Sadats on the scene. In Isracl since Camp
David, (here has been a protonged period of political succession, starting wilh Bepin's
resignation and not yef finished. In Egypt, only until recently, the same problem
existed; many questioned whether the leadership existed to move Egypt beyond a kind
of slatus quo policy. An unlikely source, the late Kamat Jumblatl, once said that the
Middle East has room for everyone to live in, but it does not have room [lor everyone's
ambitions. And that probably characterizes the way teadership today looks at the
Middle East. What drives many feaders today--not only in the Middle Cast core
countries but also at the periphery--is the concepl that ideology is more important than
the practical movemenl toward & peaceful settlement.
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In soma reapects, Arabs and Israclis have reversed roles over these years. In the
past, Tsraclis said, "Welll sit down anywhere, any time, with anyone to talk about
peace”; today, one hears conditions attached! to finding an Arab partner, Similarly, one
could always count, in the past, on Arab pariners rejecting the tdea of silting down
with lsrsel. And yet, now there are indications in some quarters that perhaps there are
changes under way in the Arab world, Questions do remain as to whether the
Palestinian movement has come to grips with the reality and significance of the stale of
Israel in the Middle East.

All 18 not lost, however, and those of us who work on this issuc are neither crazy
nor blind optimists, Part of the reason that we do continue s that the beauty and the
genius of Camp David atill persists, and they provide us with tools, ideas, and ways lo
approach the problem of resolving the Arab-laraell conflict.

Onio story illustrates this point. In 1983, when Secretary of State George Shultz
began to move arcund the Middle East in the aftermath of the Lebanon invasion, a
cable came in from one of our posts in Middle East country that, at that time, was
characterized as rejecting the peace process, The ambassador reporied & quostion that
was posed Lo him by the foreign minister: What Is the U.S. attitude toward Palestiniani
seif-determination? ' .

With everyone otherwise occupied; a junior officer was assigned to answer lhe
question, and seat back a response drawn from the Camp David accords: that
Palestinlans should participate in the detormination of their own future, Through the
process of self-government and the process of vating on the agreement that was Lo be
negotiated, they would have participated in the determination of their own future, The
reaction to this was quite Instructive, The host country thought that the United States
had changed its policy, and was amazed at how far forward, how far-reaching, U.S.
policy was. In fact, all that had been done was to quote from the Camp David
accords. B

There }s atill enough in Camp David to be worked on, and to be implemented, tha
we do not necessarily need a new framework to start a negotiating process. The idea
of & transition period; the idea of seif-govemance for Palestinians as a means of
establishing a new relationship between them and Isragl; the idea of providing
Palestinians with political and economic decision-making power over their fulure--
these ideas have niot changed over the years, but they continue to take on jncreased
and important salience in the resolution of this conflict. :

S0 we leave this Camp David discussion with a kind of bittersweet attitude, We
are leRt a bit disappolnted by the failurs of all of us--the United States and the parties
in the region--to understand that & breakthrough schieved in 1978, and not fulfilled in
1990, Is an unfulfilled breaktbrough, As we pursue this peace process, we look back
to the Camp David accords for inspiration, because they siill provide us with a
pathway to pursue. We still look for the kind of leadership qualities, the kind of
politicai qualities, that were demonstrated by all sides at that particular moment in
time, when the leadership of the three countries joined together in an offort that
proved so successful in resolving an element of the Arab-Tsraeli conflict.
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The viows cxpressed in (his atticle are thoso salely of the author, and do nal necessarlly represent
the views or policy of the United Slates govemment.
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Questions and Answers

Stein; You can tell why it was easy to bring this panel together, These genilemen
know more, and can express it much better, than any of us possibly could. And rather
than lose the poignancy of Dan's conclusion, 1 would like to turn immediately to the
panelists and ask them If they have any questions of one another, and then to the
audience for questions that I hope they will pose directly to the individual panelists.,

Genllemen, if there's anything that you'd like to clarify, please go ahead. This wilt
be a free exchange, and we'll just pretend the audience is fistening to a conversation,

Lewis: Can ! ask a question of Hermann? Dan talked about the failure of leadership in
the recent seven or eight years, and it does strike me thal none of us have actually
accented the loss of all three of the Camp David leaders from the process. Begin
retired, unexpectedly, inexplicably, in midcarcer; Sadat was assassinated; Carter was
defeated. Do you think, Hermann, if Sadat had not been assassinated, and Carter had
not been defeated--leave Begin aslde. feave him out of the equallon--would we have
succeeded in completing the promise of Camp David?

Eifts: I think we would have had a very good chance of doing so, Sadat realized, by
the end of Camp David, that it was the concessions that he had made--at least from his
point of view--that had made Camp David a success. Now, granted, there was an
egocentric aspect sbout that, but he had to take that position since, as I've indicated,
his own people were criticizing him. He counted very heavily on the second Camp
David agreement—that is, the West Bank-Gaza autonomy agreement--working out,
and he counted on President Carter 1o make it work. He realized that in the year
1979-1980, President Carter was involved in the election campaign, and thal the
president had to deal with a very seripus hostage crisis with Iran, Sadat was hoping
very much, somehoi, to be able to defer substantive discussions, which, as had been
pointed out, were not working well on autonemy, until what he hoped would be
Carter's reelection. And he was confident that Carter would then reinvolve himself in
a major way in the negotiations, as he had at Camp David, and that something would
come out of il.

There was, though, an essential difference--which I'm not sure that even Carter
could have overcome--between Sadat and Begin on the issue of autonomy. As Fas as
Begin was concerned, West Bank-Gaza-Palestinian autonomy meant narrow powers
and responsibitities for the Palestinian self-governing body; it meant no participation in
the electoral process on the part of the hundred thousand or so Arabs of Jerusalem;
and it certainly meant that whatever might come out of the five-year transition period
of autonomy would be such, in terms of the nammow powers and responsibilities of the
self-governing body, that there was not going to be any chance of self-determination,
Moreover, Begin's point was that autonomy would apply to people and not te land,
The Sadat view was tatally different. The Sadat view was that sutonomy powers and
responsibilities of the self-governing body should be broad; second, that not only
should the autonomy apply, the self-goveming body should have control over both

4
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people and fand--a very, very significant issue; and third, that the Palestinians of East
Jerusatem should participate.

Incideatially, it oughl to be borne in mind that Sndat was not a particufar lover of
Palestinians. In fact, he was very much an Egyptian nationalist. He wasn't even a
great lover of other Arabs. Nevertheless, by the end of Camp David, because of the
negalive reaction that Camp David received even in fiiendly Arab countrics--Saudi
Arabia, Jordan, Morocco--Sadat had come to realize that something more had to be
done for the Palestintans than had been done at Camp David. Hence, the importance
that'he attached to having those aulonomy talks work, and while he undersiood that in
1979 President Carter could not involve himself, he desperately hoped that once the
election was over and Carler was reelected, something could be worked out, There
was stitl hope for compromise, but not a great deal.

1 think if those leaders had remained in power, something would have resulted,
because there would have been a greater willingness lo focus on the issue, and
focusing on the issue would have meant compromise by both sides. In my viow, whal
really went wrong after Carter was out was that there was no Jonger as much focus on

" the issue as there had been. :

Owandlt: 1 1hink there's & Jol to that argusnent, but | do think afso that Lthere was a fatal
flaw in the autonomy negotiating process, and it would have continued oven if Carter
and Sadat had been in office; it was the flaw Hal Saunders alluded to. Aher Camp
David, we failed to persuade either Palestinians in the terrilories or the Jordanians Lo
enter the negotiations, as Camp David had planned for them to do. We failed, in pari,
because Sadat mishandled this issuc and didn't help us very much in the persuading
process, We failed, also, because Bepin was preoceupied with his internal opposition,
and said things publicly that interpreted Camp David in ways thal drove Patestinians
away rather than attracted them to it. And we failed for olher reasons as well. And
tlien Sadat said, "Okay, Egypt will represent the Palestinian position.” 1 think, in
retrospect, thal was a fatal flaw that could not be overcome, for it was tlear
throughout the aulonomy negotistions that Egypt could not make concessions on
behalf of the Palestinians without running unacceptable political risks. I the Israclis
were to be brought 1o a more realislic interpretation of autonomy, it had to be face to
face with the people who were going 1o be tiving the aulonomy; the deals hiad to be
made directly with them. The filure to get them into the acl, | Lhink, was Hic worm
that would have rotted the apple, even if ihe two eaders hiad survived.

Saunders: 1'd like to pick up on a number of things that were said. P'll make one
comment very quickly and then leave it aside, And 1 say this having werked for two
Republican presidents in the White House, as | worked for (wo Democrats belore Lhal,
and then for Jimmy Carter. Just piclure what might have happened--to supplement
Sam's original question--if Ronald Reagan, with his overwhelming electoral mandate,
hiad picked up rather than dropped Lhe autonomy latks. That would have injected a
politically supported American involvement; it wouldn't have been tho same as
Carler's, but nevertheless it would have been there. But inslead it was put on the back
burner. So I think we bear some responsibility there.

But the conversation that | wanted to get into was the question of linkage. [ gucss
! speak here, for a moment, jn October 1978, as the emissary to the absent pariics—

£
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Jordan and the Palestinians, particularly. 1 remember a night at Camp David when
probably all four of us were in a little room in the recreation building around the table,
and found ourselves all of a sudden writing that Jordan would do this or that. And
then we stopped and said, “You know, we can't say this.” Even in a bureaucracy, it's a
simple practice that If you're going to speak for somebody clse, you'd beiter clear what
you're saying with them, and Jordan wasn't there for us to clear-these words. it was
then we adopted the conditional: Jordan would be invited, too, If Jordan did this, ete.
After Camp David, Carter called King Huszein and said, "Please don't say anything
about the Camy David accords until we have a chance to sit down with you and tell
you about them and their contents.” An exhuasted Cy Vance was put on & plane and
sent to talk to Hussein, and 1 was sent out later to continue the dialogue more broadly.

One thing we see in that situation was that we were left to sell the Camp David
sccords 1o the Saudis and to the Jordanians and to the Palestinians. For all my
admiration for Sadat, I really do have to fault him for acting out of his negative feeling
about Palestinians and other Arabs, which Hermann just described. What would have
happened had Sadat been able to go to Hussein and Assad and the Saudi leadership
and the Palestinians and say, "1 didn't get everything 1 hoped to get at Camp David,
but there's really more linkage here betwen the Sinat agreement and the West Bank
agreement than is in that document because 1 have cenain assurances from the U.S.
feadership"? What if Sadat had made the appropriate gesture, and visited them, and
said, "I didn't do what I promised you I would do, bui here's why, We did the best we
could, and we think we can keep this process going" So, in that sense, thero was a
faiture in the politics of Sadat at that moment,

The question of linkage is & fascinating one. We could go on here all evening
among ourselves about this, because in the very flest draft of the Camp David accords
that Bill referred to, we had a sentence that explicitly linked the withdrawal from the
Sinai to the implementation, or the inauguration, of the first se!f-governing authority in
the West Bank and Gaza, I remember on that Saturday when we first showed this to
Vance and Brzezinski in the moming, and revised it and then showed it lo President
Carter around one in the aRernoon. This was shabbai, so there was a kind of
downtime in the dealings with the Israelis and the Egyptians, and we worked among
ourselves. I siill had that sentence in there about linkage. 1 think if you went back and
looked at the draR, you'd find various annotations in the second and third drafls that
say, in effect, "This doesn't make any sense; drop this; get rid of it we don't need i"--
and it dropped out. And yet, linkage remained an issue throughout the negotiation of
the peace treaty, six and saven months Jater. ‘The refrain from the Americans 1o the
Egyptians was "However we handle this in a legal document, and there probably will
be no formal linkage®--and in retrospect, il's probably well that there wasn'l--"the fact
is that the quality of normalization of relations between Eypgt and Israel will depend
on the quality of the conlinuing peace process and the involvement of the Patestinians
and, later, the Jordanians and Saudis."

So we had the same problem with the word "linkage" that we had with the Soviets,
There is a question of quid pro quo legal finkage, which we rejected; and then there is
the problem of the reat-world fact that the issues are intertwined, they are linked. It
was that second form of linkage, in a way, that did us in. When [ had to try to explain
the Camp David accords to people in the West Bank and Gaza, 1 think it's fair to say
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that if' 1 could have had one more thing, it might have been possible to get them lo
come along with us. The "orie more thing” would have been the ability to deliver on
what we thought was the Israeli commitment 1o stop selllement. That, more than any
allier thing, undid the Camp David accords because it convinced the Patestinians and
the Jordunians that we wouldnt be able to deliver. Dut we liad been able to deliver
and say, “Look, this is a serious effort thal we're going lo make on the West Bank-
Gaza. There's a political process that will unfold here; you Palestinians will be
governing--however minimally-the land defined by the 1967 line, except for the arca
around ferusalem. Take It, whatcver il is, and work with it, and build yourscives hiere
as responsible govemors in this area; then you will have a dilferent relationship with
Israel. But we couldn't selt that; we couldn't establish that kind of real-world linkage.

Lewis: We also had going on simullaneously, Hal, a very vehement campaign by the
PLO in the territories, trying to stop your persuasive abilities from having an eflect on
ihe population, and 1 think that was an important facter. Had the PLO seen the Camp
David accords for what they really poriended as a possibilily for Palestinians and
behaved differently, they today would have a far different situation, T think, in the
Middle East in general, Dan did not refer to the fact that during the last four years, as
we've gone through a series of Iterations of American peace plans and peace initiatives,
all based essentially on the Camp David idea, mose and more plainlively, the
Palestinians--including PLO members--have said, "We didn'l see Camp David al the
time for what was in it. If we only had, we'd be almost there by this time." It's
another example of how repeatedly, since the 1950s, good ideas have been accepled
by either Israelis or Palestinians several years afler they were offered, 100 late o be
effective.

Smneders: 1 agreo with your point, Sam. In those conversations of October. 1978, 1
met with a lot of people in the West Bank, but principally with two different groups.
One was a group of people that you might describe as technocraty from the West Bank
and Gaza, at a dinner in an American's home; these were the peopie running the
hospitals and the services under aceupation. They really thought the Camp David
accords had someibing for them. They were asking really pratical questions; Will we
get to control our own budgets? Can we import medical supplies on our own
authority? Things like that. They saw real potential, The other meeling was with ihe
“notables"—the political figures on the Wesl Bank--and they were all scared. They
said, "We were elected to govern & municipalily we weren'l elected to negotiate lor
the Palestinians.” And this went on and on.

1 said, *Well, look: [F you were really ingenious, why couldn't you get yourselves
depulized by the PLO? Wiy did't you have the dislogue? I you think this bas
possibilities, persuade the PLO. Get yourselves deputized by them Lo negoliate in this
and consult with them; have your own consliluent assembly--do whatever you wanl,
bul come on in." Finally, one of ikiem just threw up his hands and he said, "Achl We
are all sheep. We can only follow; we can't lead.” And that was a castigation of his
feitows, not of me. 1 agree that the failure of the Paleslinians--and [ would have Lo say
the other Arabs--to come in strong on this was parily because 1 couldn’t persuade
them, and pactly because they fiad Baghdad breathing down Lheir necks. Parl of my
mission was to persuade the Saudis and the Jordanians to defer an Arab summit that
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the Iraqis were lrying to put together; indeed, they did have a summit, and they
condemned the Camp David accords. The Saudis tried to resist it. There was a recess
in the talks, and they went back to Saudi Arabia, and we had intelligence reports that
the Iragis had threatened to assassinate the Saudi leaders if they didn't go along with
the condemnation of the accords. So that's what Hussein and the Saudis were up
against—then, as they are again today. ' :

Eilis: May I suggest another thought? I share Hal Saunders’s view that the major
reason the Camp David agreements were not more widely accepled in the Arab world
was the unresolved issue of a protracted setilement freeze In the West Bank and Gaza.
But apart from that, the question was Saudi Arabia, Sadat counted very much on
getting Saudi endorsement; if he got it, he felt, given the influence of the Saudis with
the PLO and other elements--influence brought about largely through the use of what
you might call financia! diplomacy—they would at least be accepted widely enough to
be-viable. And here, 1 think, we--specifically President Carter--made a mistake,
Carter believed that the Saudis would go along with whatever came out of this effort.
Just where the president got that idea, I don't know; 1 can only assume from our
ambassador in Saudi Arabia, but he denied indicating that the Saudis would support
anything, and I know we had discussions &t Camp David as to whether what was
evolving was likely to be acceptable to the Saudis. Sadat counted on Carter's
assurance that the Saudis would support him. But as it turned out, the signing look
place on Sunday night; by Monday morning, the Saudis had already denounced the
accords. So all the other efforis then to get the Saudis to act a littte more positively
toward the accords at the Baghdad summit that the Iracis were calling were tao late.
But It was a question of the protracted settlement, in my judgment, and the fact that
we could not get the Saudis to accept it.

Steir; Let me, at this Junciure, tum the microphone over to those in the audience who
wan to pose questions--not statements--to our assembled guests. If you would please
approach the microphone on either the left or the right side, well take the first
question. Please address it to a particular panel member,

Q: 1'd like to address my question to Dan Kurizer, Given the optimism you ralsed
that the framework for Camp David is still basically alive, at the same time there is
pessimism because you say the three primary participants aren't there and we don't
have that kind of teadership in Israel, in Egypt, and in the United States, how do you
see this ever shaping up again? How do you see the process pleking up some steam in
the future?

Kurizer: As Sam Lewis suggested, very often ideas that don't find support when
they're first proposed over time will gain support. Gne of the most interesting
vigtiettes from our diplomacy of the last year and a half came after the lsraeli elections
proposal—of May 14--was published. At that time,. we were engaged in a dialogue
with the PLO in Tunis. One of the most significant questions that came back to us
was phrased somewhat as follows: We understand what the Iscaeli plan is intending to
do. What we don't undesstand is why it's not as good as Camp David. The PLO had
undertaken its own study of Camp David; had not yet come to grips with Camp David
fully enough to be prepared to endorse it; but clearly understood what the strengths of
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Camp David held out as a possibility for Palestinians in a negolialing process. So,
with that undesstanding, as it grows over time, the challenge for the diplomats, as the
leaders assess whether their own environment is correct and ready for deciston
making, is to try to build lillle bridges between the pariies and find out wheller some
of these changed attiludes can be translated into changed positions and changed
policies, and see where things can work,

This 1s one of the things that we have tried to do over this last year and a hailt
taking an Issaeli election proposal that tiad a lol of weaknesses i it but had one
inierent strength: that it provided a potential pathway lo a process that would lead,
through a series of steps, (o a comprehensive settlement, And it was for the promise
of starting out rather modestly in an 1sracli-Palestinian dialoguc--through an clection,
through negoliations, in multiple siages--that we tried 1o aliract some support, and
have not yel been able to do so. You don't find a ready-made formula, but over time,
as tho diferent parties assimilate the importance of dilferent aspects af this process,
you try 1o find those bridges that can be built and sce if the political environment can
sustain them,

O: 1 seemed from the discussion we just heard that the prime thing wo learncd from
the siatemonls that were made here--and 1 wanl to thank you gentlemen for giving us
these litile bits of the inside woskings of the diplomatic process--is that the only
success we've had so far in the Middle East was when there were direct negoliations
between the heads of the states in dispute. Why does our government, and individuals
in our governmenl--particularly In the Bush administration--keep bringing up the
concept of an international conference, which we know is unacceptable? In my
experience and the little knowledge of history that I have, [ don't know of any major
dispute between nations that was solved in an inlemational conference--only by direct
negoliations of the parties in dispute. 1'd like to hear from ihose who follow this
pasticular idea of an interalional conference.

Jewls; T think you ought to ask Dr. Stein this question. Tli tclt you why. The U.S.
Instilute of Peace--for which 1 have the honor to be the president--has made & grant 1o
Dr. Stein--not to bribe him to bring me here tonight, T assure you, but for a project
directly related to your question. His study is of all the peace conferences hal have
taken place on Middle East issues and what can be learned from thelr successes and
fullures. And there have been some successes; ey haven'l alf been failures.  But
before he answers, let me say this: 1 is clear that even al Canip David, when you had
the three principals logether, locked up in a diplomatic prison, direcl negotiations
weren’t the answer. [t was, in fact, an indirect negotiation, will the United Stales
moving back and forth between the two delegations. There was social contact, but the
negoliating was all indirect. And I suspect that will be the pattemn for success in the
fulure,

Kurizer: Let me add two comments, if I may. Number one, 1 think there has been a
“wisunderstanding of American policy since 1980. The Reagan and the Dush
administrations have both indicated their guile severe rescrvations about the viabilily
of an international conference, and have adopted positions that indicate support for a
properly structured conference o be convened at an appropriato time--lwo important
caveats to the convering of a conference. Tliat said, there is nothing inherently wrong

v
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with a conference as a vehicle to launch, or to help facilitate, or to help support, a
negotisting process. A key clement in the Shultz plan in 1988 was use of an
international conference, None of the parties really expect negotiations per se to take
place in a conference format, but many of the parties need the conference as a kind of
umbrella or cover or facllitator for the process ilself. So one of the arguments that
we've had with both those who favor a conference and those who oppose it is nol to
inflate the importance of a conference, but also not to denigrate the kind of use that a
conference can be in helping to bring about, or to support, a negotiating process once
taunchied. : ’

Stein:  Let me very briefly give you some information about an international
conference format., Bach side believes in self-determination, but each would like to
detenmine by itself what the other side will bring to the talks. In other words, each
wants to be there alone, but each wants to determine the procedure or the conditions
that will allow the other to come to the tatks, No side wants the other side to
determine the outcome alone. Each side fears the unknown, and as soon as they feel
that they're getting close to some sort of negoliating dynamic, they get very cold feet,
because they're afraid that they're going to get into a dark tunnei; they don't know
whether it's really light at the end of the tunnel, or il's stk oncoming train, -

(2: But this is the nature of any negotiation.

Stein: I'm just telling you what L know from what the respective sides have said. And
most important, some elements of each side are willing to say, “Let's go to an
international conference,” and each side demands active, vigorous U.S. participation.

(: No, that's not the position of Israel, as T understand it. The position of Israel is
that we are ready to sit down with any one or all of the Arab states and resolve this
dispute face to face.

Stein: An international conference is one mechanism; it's not an exclusive means, as
Dan pointed out,

(. But what is wrong with face-to-face negotiations?

Stein. Nothing. If they want to go face to face, that's their business. 1'm Just telling
you what the research has told me so far. Let's get on to the next question. Thisis a
discussion about Camp David, not about convening an international conference.

. Since it's impossible to assemble so many American Middle East experts who've
actually had successful dealings with the Middle East, 1'd like to ask the gentlemen on
the panel to comment on the Iraq situation, and in particular to comment on its likely
impact on the Arab-Israeli dispute.

Quandt: Let me take a crack at the end of that, However the Iraq crisis comes oul,
the Middle East is not going to be the same. There may be a series of regime changes;
certalnly, if war is the outcome, that's likely. And if Saddam Hussein gains a
diplomatic victory, I think our friends in the coalition are in serious internal trouble as
well. Therefore, it's very hard to predict what the Palestinian-lsracli problem is going
to ook like until you know which outcome of the Gulf crisis you're dealing with, But
one thing is clear; ‘The crisis already has produced a deadly blow to the peace camp in
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Israc!, and to those people who had been moving in the direction of accepting the
necessity for eventually negotiating with the PLO and the Palestinians. That's been sel
back dramatically. The suspicion between the iwo communilies has been heightened
cnormously, and therefore, 1 would say that while there will undoubledly be
international pressure, in the wake of the raq crisis, 1o move on to an international
conference or some other format for dealing with this fong-standing major issue
botween Palestinians and Jsraelis, the prospécts for doing it very quickly in the
aftermath of this crisis are, 'm affaid, very poor.

Q: My question is for Dr. Eilts. Mr. Ambassador, during the remarks you mentioned
the objections raised by the Egyptian staff during the early negoliations at Camp
David. Were those objections reasonable or legilimate representations of Muslin,
Pan-Arab objections or concemns? And if' so, why were they not taken inte
consideration, given that they may have been legitimate?

Eifts: 1 would nol characlerize them as consistent, necessarily, with overall Muslim
concerns, because the Islamic world goes beyond the Arab world, But as far as the
members of the Egyplian delegation who were critical of Sadat--everyone other than
the president himself--they felt that what Sadat was doing, in tesms ol conceding
various points at Carler's request, was going to cause precisely the kind ol problems
that arose after Camp David; that Sadat, as I pointed out, had made concessions that
went beyond what he had told the Arab leaders he would do--that is, limil the
concesslons he would make, With every passing concession--especially the separalion
of the Egyptian-Isracli effort in Sinai and the West Bank-Gaza autonomy--they argued
that whatever came out of it probably was riot going to be accepted in Epypt ilself,
and they did nol want to be part of it. That was why the foreign minister resigned at
Camp David, And in terms of Arab reaction, they were right. The overall Arab
reaclion was exactly what they had predicted.

Why wasn't that reatized by Sadat? Well, Sadat was mesmerized, in many ways,
by President Carter; the personal relationship belween them was one I'd never scen
between two leaders before. Sadat had enormous conflidence that Camp David, cven
though it was a small and in many ways imperfect step, was the {irst stop toward a
more comprehensive peace process, And he counted on President Carter's personal
involvement in the fisture fo make it work. The other members of his delegalion were
dubious that it would work.

Q: 1'd like to ask Dr. Saunders a question. What prompted President Carter Lo join
with the Soviet Union in October 1977 to go to Geneva, and was thal decision a Taclor
that prompled President Sadal to go to Jerusalem?

Saunders; Bill may want to add somelhing to my response, because he was parl of
those negotiations in New York. My picture of what happened there is as follows: As
we all know, most of the diplomatic efforl of 1977 was dirccted al trying to reconvene
the Middle East peace conference in Genieva. Most of that effort in (he first half of the
year was an American effort; we went to the Middle East twice with Vance, and
Carter saw the principal leaders himself. Then we realized, in midsummer, that there
was anolher chairman to the Geneva Middle East peace conference ihal had met
before Christmas in 1973: the Soviel Union. The calendar of diplomacy includes the
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fact that in September-October, many of the fareign miinisters of the world come to the
U.N. General Assembly, and that conciave provides a moment for many bilateral
discussions; very often, IF the Soviet foreign minister comes, he includes on his
itinerary a visit to Washington to see the president, especially if he and the secretary of
state get together in New York, . :

So, after & trp to the Middie East to try to move the process further toward
Geneva, and having a deadline of trylng to get there by the end of 1977, it wax natural
that we would think of using New York tatks between Secretary Vance and Foreign
Minister Andrei Gromyko to bring the Soviets up to date on the thinking and the work
that we had done to pave the way for a resumption of the conference through writing
terms of reference, When you're going to have a meeting of that kind, you also, as
staff members, recognize that after the principals meet--especially if the press knows
they have been talking about resuming the Middle East peace conference--ihe
spokesmen for the two ministers will need something to say. If one is Jjudicious, one
wanls to have that something pretty well prepared. So I think it was worked out that
maybe this time, given the imporiance of the issue, we should consult with the Soviels
before the foreign ministers even met. [ can't remember--maybe Bill will--whether we
sent a drakt to the Soviets for them to comment on, or they provided the draft; it
usually goes from the Americans to the Soviels.

In any case, when the Soviets came to Now York, there were intensc discussions
between the slaffs of the foreign ministers about that communiqus, T think the
Americans felt prefty much that the language in it was quile satisfactory o us; we had
not given anything away. We'd made a fow advances, but it was essentially something
we could be comforiable with. And a document was released after the Vance-
Gromyko meeting, If there was a failure in the process, it was not a failure of
diplomacy but a failure to anticipate the reaction of Israel, and some elements of the
American Jewish community working through the Congress. Part of the surprise, I
think, was the fact that during these talks with the Soviets, the American team had
checked out the current draft with both the Egyptian foreign minister and with Foreign
Minister Dayan, who wera in New York. T think perhaps Dayan was as surprised as
anybody at the rocket that he got back from the lsraeli government, abjecling to this
coming together of the United States and the Soviet Union.

I see it much more--as you can tell—-as the product of normal, high-leve} diplomatic
dialogue, and not as a major shock in diplomatic language ltself. Now, your second
question is did that trigger Sadal's visit to Jerusalem? 1 know there's been that theory
around; I pessonally haven't subscribed to it, but others from the panel may disagree
with me,

Quandt; 1t was the Soviet team who prepared the first draft when thoy came to New
York, and by any standards, it was a better draft than we had any reason to expect.
Most of the slogans and jargon were missing, and therefore there was an inclination to
work on it. It was not given tremendously high priorily, insofar as there were a lot of
other things going on. Insofar as there was a strategic rationale for going ahead with
this, there was the feeling that Syria was going to be a problem as we tried to move
. forward, however we moved foward, because it seemed to be the most refuctant of the
Arab states around Israel, And the Soviets had a belter relationship by far with Syria
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than we, and we thought they might be prepared to use some of their influence as the
enlry to getling this honorary rale of cochairman, which they had had in 1973. Insofar
as there was some political reason for it, it was to try lo get some leverage over the
Syrians through the Soviets--and that's exactly what the Syrians read into it. My
recollection--and I think Ambassador Eilts will confirm this--is that the initial Egyptian
reaclion was very positive, because they thought we had gotten a handle on the
Syrians. The Initial Syrian reaction was very negative; they thought they were
comered, with both the Americans and the Soviets pressuring them. My recoltection
is that Sadal's words 1o Ambassador Eilts were something like "master stroke” or
"hrilliant stroke.”

Eilis: 1t -was "brilliant.”

Quandr. Sadal thought it was going to solve his main problem in going to Geneva,
which was to get the Syrians o stop being so obsliuctive. My fecting is that when he
realized that wasn't in the cards, and hadn't been worked oul, and that Carter himseil,
afler 1he domestic reaction to the October t, 1977, statement, was, in a sense,
retreating from it, Sadat knew that he didn't have anything to cornes the Sysians. That
made him start to worry about the Geneva conference, particularly as he saw Carter’s
own domestic stock fading during Oclober. 8o if's only in an exiraordinarily
convoluted way that the October §, 1977, communiqué is refated to Sadat's decision to
g0 {0 Jerusalem. His initial reaction was a very posilive one, nol a negative one.

Eilis: May 1 add a brief point? 1 think it's very important to try to explain why Sadat
weni to Jerusalem. Contrary to some revisionist history, he was not at all upset about
that U.S.-Soviet statement. He called it “brilliant,” for the reasons that Bill Quandt has
given, and also because he felt that it was possible to have the Soviets present at such
& conference and yet fimit their potential mischief-making capabilities by, for example,
the chairman—nol the cochairmen, the Soviets and ourselves--not participating in
commillea sessions. The expectation was thal the commillee sessions, which would
involve Arabg and Israclls, Egyptians and Istaclis, would nol work, and very quickly,
the parties would rush out to scek the assistance of the cochaicmen,

The Soviets had no relations with Israel, so they were hardly in a mediator’s role;
the United States did. So Sadat was not wortried that thal Soviel mischiel-making
capabilities were dangerous. He decided 1o go to Jerusalem when in October a scrics
of working papers developed. The working papers were, in cfTect, the agenda for the
Geneva conference. Moshe Dayan came to Washinglor; President Carler suggested
that Dayan wiite what he thought should be the agenda. He did so. Several days laler
Ismait Fahmi, the Egyptian minister, came; President Carler asked him to look at the
agenda, and Fahmi said, "My God, this is an Israeli drall; it's no good." So the
president said, "Rewrile it," and Fahmi rewrote it. In due course, Moshe Dayan came
again and said, "My God, this is an Egyptian draft; il's not acceplable.,” And so on.
This working paper was finally sent to Egypt after the fast Dayan revision, but we
couldn't get the Egyptians 1o accept it. They would not accepl the fact Lhat this was
what we calted an American draf; thoy said, "Fhis is nonsense; this is an Isracli draft."
So one was stuck,

At that point--because we were reaching the end of the year; and the end of the
year, of early January, had been the targel lime (ame, ihe objective--President Carter

%
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proposed that we all go to Genova without terms of reference; that we make the
writing of terms of reference the first item at Geneva, no matter how long It took, At
least we would be In Geneva, and that had & symbolic imporiance, The various
parties—-some with greater reluctance than others--ngreed to that, with the exceplion
of the Syrians. The Syrians never answered. And so days passed, and Sadat saw, as
he put it, "Peace is slipping through my fingers for procedural reasons.” The United
States did not have eneugh Influence on Assad to get him to change, i

So President Carter sent Sadat a hand-written lelter. Ha said, *I need your help, 1
need some bold action.” And when you said "bold action” to Sadat, this was the kind
of thing that he loved. So he came up with various ideas, one of which was going to
Jerusalem, not to shift the peace process away from Geneva but as a step to getling it
toward Geneva, The idea of going to Jerusalem was a product of two things. First,
over the years, Sadat had been meeting regularly on his trips to Europe with very
prominent Jewish financiers in Austris, Patis, and London, They had all urged him--
they were all anti-Begin--that the way to handle Begin was to go to Jerusalem and
have direct talks. Second was King Hassan of Morocco. He had, several months
before, sent Sadat a message from a very prominent Jewlsh leader saying the same
Kinds of things: Why don't you go to Jerusatem or have direct talks? It was direct
talks; it wasn't Jenisaten. '

And Sadat, in that dramalic fashion characteristic of him--Sadat was a showman,
first and foremost--put together these suggestions and the message he had received
from Hassan, and ndded to that his own flair for the dramatic, He would go to
Jenusalem during the Muslim holiday, and use that venue to present the Arab case--to
break, as he put it, the psychological barrier. That would be the way to break this
impasse that had developed because the Syrians were not answering on the issue of
terms of reference. Sadat seriously believed that was the way it was going to work,
When he came back from Jerusalem, he called me and sald, "We're going to be ia
‘Geneva in iwo weeks. And next week, we're going to have a preparatory conference
here. Youll see. Tve done it," The preparatory conference was held, but hardly
anybody attended. As a result, the peace process shifted away from Geneva. It was
that issue of niot beinig able to have terms of reference that would alfow the parfies to
g0, that caused the trip to Jerusalem.

Q: First, I want to thank all of you gentlemen for a most erlightening and interesting
and educationsl evening. The question I have is, Egypt bad ils Sadal, Isracl had its
Begin, but the Palestinians were really fragmented. Asafat spoke for only a very small
portion of them, Who, thecfors, could negotiate for the Palestinians and make any
successful meeting of the minds in this kind of an environment? 1l address it to Mr.
Kurtzer, and whoever else would like to enter Into,

Kurfzer: Tt's a short question, and it's a question that has not had an answer yel. As
Ken indicated in his introductory remarks tonight, perhaps the most bedeviling
question in the peacs process has been that of Palestinian representation. And i¥'s been
that way becauss the conditions under which the two key parties are prepared to meet
with each other have not yet been close enough to bridge. Over the course of the past
couple of years, we've tried a variety of formulas to get around the obstacles of, on the
one hand, conditions set by the government of Israel with regard to PLO participation,
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and on the other, the conditlons set by the Palestinian community with regard to FLO
participation. We have come very close to finding formulas over the years that awould
allow a Palestinian partner to join the process, that pariner being legitimized through a
variety of ways by the PLO, but not in a way that would be %0 overt #s to drive Israel
from the table.

But having come close doesn't get you a cigar. Wo haven't yet found a formula
that both sides can live with. 1t is far more, | would suggest, than a procedural
question, because both sides, the lsraeli and the Palestinlan, have invested in the
question of Palestiniari representation rather far-reaching jmplications for the peace
process. Tor Israel--and 1 speak in generalizations here-—-the question of PLO
involvement in some ways is seen as A question of almost delegilimizing the state of
Issael, because the PLO is seen, in the minds of many Israclis, as antithetical in its very
nature--by ils charter, by ils meaning--to Israel's secure existence, And there are those
in the Palestinian community who hold & vision of a political settlement that in fact
would negale Isracl's security and perhaps Israel's existence.

So it's nat simply a question of representation, but the representation question is a
way of getting at the issue that [ suggested is at the hearl of this conflict, and that is, Is
there room--physical, psychological, and political--in Palestinian-Arab Israe! for both
Jewish nationalism and Palestinian nationafism? And If you can psychologicaily,
politically, get to the answer of that question, then the issue of hiow you represent both
sides in the negoliating process would, I think, be easier to address.

Stefrr; I'm tempted to end it here, but T asked each of my panelists when 1 wrole to
them several months, if not a year, ago to bring an anecdoie about the Camp David
process, and share it wilh the audience. If you will permit me, I'd like to give them
each an opportunity to tell an interesting story.

Filts: ‘When the Egyptian delegation came to Camp David, they locked around and
said, "My God, what are we doing here? Why do we have to be up here in the
mountains of Maryland"--which they didn't care about--"surrounded by barbed wire,
by Marines, far from any city? Why do we have lo slay here?™ The senfor members,
especially the deputy prime minister, who most desperately wanled to go to
Washington, kept trylng to get over the fence, and of course were not allowed 1o do
s0. The only person in the Egyptian delegation who accepted it was President Sadat,
I asked Him, "How is it, Mr. President, that you are so calm about this?" He, oo,
liked the city life, He thought about it a bit, then said, "Well, i's better than Cell 20."
That was the cell in which he had been imprisoned for four years many years carlier in
Eaypt, for participation in a terrorist action against a very unpopular jeader at the time;
that's where he learned English. '

Saunders: 1 have to 1oif two quick ones, Sam Lewis commented that a way 1o Begin's
heart was to get o the personal side of life. Carter tells the story that on the last day
of Camp David, when the negotiations reaily almost fell apart, things were very tense.
He had to go to Begin's cabin and try to resoive an issue related to Jerusalem--the
toughest issue of them all. As he walked out of his sludy, he saw a pile of
pholographs of himself. Begin had asked Susan Clough, Catter's secretary, for
autographed photographs for each of his grandchildren, and Susan gave the president
the name of each grandchild. Carter had inscribed each of these pholes lo the name,
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snd signed them "Jimmy Carter." So he picked up the photographs, found Begin on
the porch of his cabin, and they headed for a very tense meeting. In the cabin, Carter
casually and tentatively put the photographs on the table, and Begin saw that ey
were inscribed to his grandchildren. He started turning them over and talking about
_is grandchildren, At the end, accerding to Cartef, he =aid, "Mr. President, this iy
what we're all about, isn't it? Our grandchildren.”

My personal story is that later that afternoon, 1 was called over to Carler's odge.
Brzezinski and Vance were in the living room when I walked in the front door, Asl
entered, Carter and Sadat had obviously just finished their meeting in Carter’s study. 1
stepped aside because Carter obviously was going to say good-bye and Sadat was
‘going to go out the door and back to his cabin, After they shook hands, Sadat went
out. Carter turned around, and because I'd stepped aside, [ happened to be face o
face with him. As nearly as 1 can remember the words, he looked at me and said, "I
think we have an agreement, but I was afraid to ask him."

Ken asked us, when he wrols, to say a littls bit about what we felt at the end of the
Camp David accords. When we went down to the White House and were in the Esst
Room in front. of the television cameras, watching the signing and all the smiles, I
Jooked at Sadat and thought, This s not the jubitant celebration that most of the world
is going to think it is, This is a very sober moment. :

Quands; Picking up on Hal's anecdote, about half an hour after that, as we had all
been briefed and an agreement had been reached--wo thought--the planning madly
began for the PR coup at the end of all this: Could we have a White House signing
ceremony that night? At that point, they called in all the media people and staried
asking how quickly they could do this and that; could they get people from Congress,
and so forth, They finally said, "It!l take us four hours to do it." It was about 6:30 or
50 al that point, and Carter sald, "No, it's got to be 10 o'clock. You've got to do it
faster," So everybody started rushing to get things ready. My recolfection is that just
as wo were all getting ready to go, an enormous thunderstorm began. We all paused
and thought that somebody up there took nolice,

Just ona other brief anecdote, because that was the tail-end of Hal's: Before going
to Camp David, the issue arose--as it inevitably does from the intelligence types--
should we bug the cabins so we will know what they're saying to one another?
Presumably, peopls do this on a fairly routine basis. But this created a bit of a division
within the American camp. Brzezinski thought, of course, we should; the more we
knew, the better. And Vance, the gentleman that he was, thought we shouldn't.
Carter decided that we shouldn't, and so, as far as I know, during the entlre
proceedings, we did not have access to that kind of information. But I can tell you
that the Egyptians and the Israclis thought we were doing it, and-they had all of theie
private conversations outdeors, '

Lewis: Well, T guess I have to tell fwo quickies also, one humorous snd one not so
humorcus, In between mestings, there was & lot of tension released in various kinds of
athletic enterprises. Brzezinski played chess with Begin, and Jody Powell--as 1 think
Bill recounts in his book--and Hamilton Jordan pleaded with Begin to please beat
Brzezinski, because if he allowed him 1o win, he would be insufferable for the rest of
the conference. Begin did, in fact, come out (I think) in & draw. But one of the kinds
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of athletic endeavors that was most interesting to me was tennis, There were two very
nice tennis courts at Camp David, and there was a lot of teanis in between meetings.
One time, Bill Quandt snd I were playing against the Israeli ambassador, Simcha
Dinitz, and Dr. Lewis, who was the doctor to the Iseaeli delegation. Carter was
playing on the court next to us, with Begin looking on, against somebody else, Bill
and I were having & hard time at that moment. Carter tumed and yelled to us, "You
guys better win, because you're playing for the West Bank."

“And now a more sober snecdote. Jt was one night, midway through the
conference, when Carler had finished an extremely unpleasant, difficult, querulous,
long, and wearing meeling with Prime Minister Begin, then briefed our delegation
sbout it. I walked out after him; he was heading back 1o his cabin, He said, "Come
walk with me.® We walked through the woods, just the two of us, back toward our
cabins. He said, "Damn, [ don't think Begin wants peacel™ And I said, "There's no
lsraeli who doesn't want pesce, Mr, President, teast of all Menachem Begin. What
we're talking about here is how much would you pay and how much can you risk for a
forma! agreement.” He grumbled a little bit. "Well, I dow't know, I'm not sure." And
then, at the very end of the confercrice, afler the deal was made, the agreement was
reached, we were walking, and Carter turned to me and said, *You know, 1 think you
were right about Begin. It was the price.”

Stefn: Let me thank my colleagues. 1 think tonight some of us remember Walter
Cronkite: "You aré there.”




